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)
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1)

	

Myname is James R. Dittmer . I am a Senior Regulatory Consultant
working for the firm of Utilitech, Inc . This testimony I am presenting
herein is offered on behalf of the Missouri Office of the Public Counsel

2)

	

Attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes is my surrebuttal
testimony consisting of pages I througha.

3)

	

I hereby swear and affirm that my statements contained in the attached
testimony are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Subscribed and sworn to be this 26th day of February 2004

ROSEANNE M. MERTES
Notary Public -Notary Seal
STATE OF MISSOURI

Jackson County
My Commission Expires : Dec . 7, 2006

My commission expires

James R. Dittmer
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1 SURREBUTTAL TESTIMONY
2 OF
3 JAMES R. DITTMER
4 AQUILA, INC.

6 AQUILA NETWORKS - MPS
7 CASE NO. ER-2004-0034
8

9 Q. PLEASE STATE YOUR NAME AND ADDRESS.

10 A. My name is James R. Dittmer. My business address is 740 Northwest Blue

11 Parkway, Suite 204, Lee's Summit, Missouri 64086 .

12

13 Q. BY WHOM ARE YOU EMPLOYED?

14 A. I am a Senior Regulatory Consultant with the firm of Utilitech, Inc., a

15 consulting firm engaged primarily in utility rate work.

16

17 Q. HAVE YOU PREVIOUSLY FILED TESTIMONY IN THIS

18 PROCEEDING?

19 A. Yes . On December 9, 2003 1 filed direct testimony in this case on behalf of the

20 Office of the Public Counsel for the State of Missouri (hereinafter "OPC") .

21
__

22

23

24 Q. ON WHOSE BEHALF ARE YOU PRESENTING SURREBUTTAL

25 TESTIMONY IN THIS CASE?



1

	

A.

	

Like my direct

2

	

behalf of the OPC.

3

4

	

OVERVIEW OF SURREBUTTAL TESTIMONY

5

	

Q.

	

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF YOUR SURREBUTTAL TESTIMONY?

6

	

A.

	

Within my direct testimony filed in this case I presented arguments supporting

7

	

adjustments to 1) assign 50% of the cost of certain high level Enterprise Support

8

	

Function ("ESF") departments to what I believe to be continuing corporate

9

	

downsizing efforts and 2) to disallow as "excess" or "unneeded" headquarters

10

	

office space caused primarily by Aquila's exiting from its energy trading

11

	

operations as well as its sale or disposal of other unregulated operations .

	

Mr.

12

	

Jon Empson, appearing on behalf of the Company, offers arguments in rebuttal

13

	

testimony in opposition to my two noted adjustments .

	

The purpose of this

14

	

surrebuttal testimony is to respond to Mr. Empson's rebuttal arguments .

15

16

	

Q.

	

BY WAY OF BACKGROUND, PLEASE BRIEFLY EXPAND UPON

17

18

19 A.

20

21

22

23

this testimony is being presented on

THE ADJUSTMENTS AND ARGUMENTS YOU PRESENTED WITHIN

YOUR DIRECT TESTIMONY.

Very briefly, within my direct testimony I proposed to eliminate approximately

35% of the cost of the Company's downtown Kansas City, Missouri

headquarters building costs being allocated to the MPS

basis of the disallowance was simply that a good portion of the noted office

building sits empty and unused as a result of the Company's exit from the

The



1

	

energy trading business, as well as the Company's sale or divestiture of many

2

	

other unregulated subsidiaries or operations .

3

4

	

Additionally, I proposed that one-half of the cost of eight high level ESF

5

	

departments be eliminated from the development of MPS'

6

	

jurisdictional cost of service . It was my position in my direct testimony - and

7

	

continues to be my position - that some significant level of senior

8

	

management's efforts will continue to be devoted to the Company's ongoing

9

	

task of divesting itself of various unregulated and international operations .

10

	

Accordingly, I have employed judgment in concluding that one-half of certain

11

	

high. level ESF departments' cost should be assigned or allocated to this

12

	

"winding down" phase of Aquila's non-regulated and international operations .

13

14

	

CORPORATE OVERHEAD COSTS

15

	

Q. PLEASE SUMMARIZE MR. EMPSON'S REBUTTAL TO YOUR

16

	

ADJUSTMENT TO ASSIGN A PORTION OF CERTAIN HIGH LEVEL

17

	

ESF DEPARTMENT COSTS TO THE "WINDING DOWN" OF

18

	

UNREGULATED BUSINESS OPERATIONS.

19

	

A.

	

Mr. Empson's rebuttal testimony included the following major points :

20

	

"

	

My adjustment to eliminate a portion of the costs of certain high level

21

	

ESF departments is arbitrary and "subjective in nature, lacking no hard

22

	

concrete support ."



1

	

"

	

Senior management's time has been and continues to be focused on the

2

	

day-to-day operations of the utility business .

3

	

" The asset sales and business restructuring activities have been

4

	

substantially completed and the Company has already voluntarily

5

	

removed all the cost of six departments as well as miscellaneous

6

	

downsizing expenditures from other departments .

7

	

"

	

Stated in terms of nominal dollars, the Missouri jurisdictional amounts

8

	

for certain executive functions that I have "allowed" for inclusion in cost

9

	

of service development is simply unreasonable for the size of regulated

10

	

operations providing service within Missouri .

11

12

	

Q.

	

HOW DO YOU RESPOND TO MR. EMPSON'S REBUTTAL POINTS

13

	

REGARDING YOUR PROPOSED ASSIGNMENT OF CERTAIN HIGH

14

	

LEVEL ESF DEPARTMENT COSTS TO WINDING DOWN THE

15

	

COMPANY'S VARIOUS NON-REGULATED AND INTERNATIONAL

16

	

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES?

17

	

A.

	

Taking the arguments one at a time in the order summarized above, I would

18

	

disagree with Mr. Empson's characterization of my adjustment as "arbitrary." 1

19

	

would admit that I was forced to use "judgment" in formulating my adjustment .

20

	

However, the fact that one is forced to employ "judgment" in the process of

21

	

formulating a position does not necessarily make the position "arbitrary."

22



1

	

Mr. Empson has claimed that I have no "hard concrete evidence support" for

2

	

my proposed adjustment . I would concede that I cannot demonstrate with "hard

3

	

concrete evidence" such as employee time sheets that the noted department

4

	

personnel have been, and likely will continue for a while, working on winding

5

	

down a number of non-utility and international business operations . However,

6

	

that lack of documentation is through no fault of myself, the OPC or the

7

	

Missouri Public Service Commission Staff. Specifically, it has been

8

	

recommended in previous Aquila rate cases that the Company be required to

9

	

employ positive time sheet reporting that would enable rate auditors to view

10

	

what certain department personnel actually spend their time on.

11

12

	

Q.

	

WHAT DO YOU MEAN WHEN YOU SAY "POSITIVE TIME SHEET

13 REPORTING"?

14

	

A.

	

By "positive time sheet reporting" I am referring to a reporting system wherein

15

	

at least select departments would be required to actually "positively" account

16

	

for what activities are undertaken throughout the work week. Specifically, one

17

	

would envision being able to review narrative descriptions of individual tasks

18

	

undertaken by upper management on at least a daily basis. With such data one

19

	

could calculate and document with "hard concrete evidence" exactly what a

20

	

select few ESF department heads are working on.

21

22

	

Q. HAS THE COMPANY ACTIVELY OPPOSED "POSITIVE TIME

23

	

SHEET REPORTING"?



I

	

A.

	

Yes, the Company has steadfastly opposed such reporting practice . When I first

2

	

recommended in Case No. ER-97-394 in 1997 that positive time sheet reporting

3

	

be implemented, the Company offered three rebuttal witnesses to oppose such

4

	

requirement .

	

I stated in 1997, and I would reiterate herein, if the Company

5

	

would ever be willing to implement positive time sheet reporting it would, if its

6

	

characterizations of how upper management spends the majority of its time on

7

	

day-to-day utility operations is accurate, be able to once and for all demonstrate

8

	

just how truly wrong and "arbitrary" I have been .

	

In summary on this point,

9

	

the very "hard concrete evidence" that Mr. Empson would have me produce is

10

	

simply not available - but that is only because the Company has never adopted

11

	

positive time sheet reporting.

12

13

	

Q.

	

IF THERE IS NO INFORMATION TO INDICATE EXACTLY WHAT

14

	

PERSONNEL WITHIN THE DISPUTED ESF DEPARTMENTS SPENT

15

	

THEIR "ALLOCABLE" TIME ON DURING THE TEST YEAR, WHAT

16

	

DO YOU RELY UPON TO CONCLUDE THAT AT LEAST A FEW

17

	

HIGH LEVEL ESF DEPARTMENTS SPENT A SIGNIFICANT

18

	

PORTION OF THEIR TIME AND RESOURCES ON FACILITATING

19

	

THE EXIT OF A NUMBER OF NON-REGULATED AND

20

	

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS OPERATIONS?

21

	

A.

	

There is ample evidence to support a conclusion that a select few, high-level

22

	

ESF departments have been, and likely into the future will continue to, support

23

	

divestiture activities . Specifically, one need look no further than the Company's



1

	

quarterly and annual reports to the Securities and Exchange Commission to

2

	

observe the significant verbiage and inevitable resources that simply must be

3

	

devoted to the downsizing of the Aquila organization.

	

I have affixed as

4

	

Attachment No. 1 the SEC Form 10-Q for the latest reporting period available

5

	

(i.e., third quarter of 2003) .

	

Therein the Commission can observe page after

6

	

page after page of tables and narratives devoted to "disposals," ..terminations,"

7

	

"exits" and "sales" of assets and properties .

	

Further, I have reviewed the

8

	

Company's minutes of its Board of Directors meetings for all of 2002 as well as

9

	

all of 2003 that were available through the third quarter of calendar year 2003 .

10

	

Executive management's attention to its financings/refinancings, sales and

11

	

divestitures activities is even more pronounced in confidential Board of

12

	

Directors meeting minutes .

13

1,4

	

The question that the rate analysts, and ultimately this Commission, must

15

	

wrestle with is whether all financings and refinancings related to the Company's

16

	

non-regulated operations' problems, as well as the "disposals," "terminations,"

17

	

"exits" and "sales" of assets and properties noted within public SEC filing, and

18

	

more prominently within the Board of Directors meeting minutes, is being

19

	

undertaken without senior management's significant attention and input . Mr.

20

	

Empson would have this Commission believe that senior management is fairly

21

	

"focused on the day-to-day operations of the utility business" while it delegates

22

	

away the problem of corporate survival - which entails significant refinancings

23

	

and the sale or exiting of multi-hundred million dollars of operations . I do not



1

	

accept that these significant events and transactions are occurring without

2

	

significant senior management input - and it is for that reason that I have

3

	

employed some professional judgment in assigning a portion of senior

4

	

management's costs to such activities .

5

6

	

Q.

	

HOW DO YOU RESPOND TO MR EMPSON'S ASSERTION THAT

7

	

THE ASSET SALES AND RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES HAVE

8

	

BEEN SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED AND THAT THE COMPANY

9

	

HAS ALREADY VOLUNTARILY ELIMINATED THE COST OF SIX

10

	

DEPARTMENTS AS WELL AS MISCELLANEOUS DOWNSIZING

11

	

EXPENDITURES FROM OTHER DEPARTMENTS .

12

	

A.

	

A quick read of the SEC 10-Q attached will quickly reveal that much work

13

	

remains to be undertaken to complete needed sales and refinancings . Further,

14

	

Ms. Beverlee Agut states in her direct testimony :

15

	

In 2002, the Chief Financial Officers, Messrs . Dan Streek and
16

	

Rick Dobson, extensively focused on maintaining the solvency
17

	

ofAquila . It is anticipated this focus will continue for at least a
18

	

couple ofyears. (Ms . Beverlee Agut's direct testimony, page 8,
19

	

emphasis added) .
20

21

	

Thus, contrary to Mr. Empson's characterization, I believe these winding down

22

	

activities will be significant and continuing for quite some time .

23

24

	

Q.

	

WHAT ABOUT MR. EMPSON'S CLAIM THAT THE COMPANY HAS

25

	

VOLUNTARILY REMOVED THE COST OF SIX ESF

26 DEPARTMENTS?



1

	

A.

	

Regarding Mr. Empson's claim that the Company has voluntarily removed the

2

	

cost of six ESF departments, I would note that I have already stated within

3

	

direct testimony that Aquila could be commended for such action. The fact that

4

	

the Company has eliminated the cost of two departments that have been

5

	

completely dissolved, and further, has eliminated the cost of four other

6

	

departments which are largely, if not exclusively, devoted to the downsizing

7

	

effort does nothing to dispel the notion that other high level ESF departments

8

	

must be spending part of their time on the significant job of attempting financial

9

	

survivorship of the corporation through sales and refinancings .

10

11

	

Q.

	

HOW DO YOU RESPOND TO MR. EMPSON'S FINAL POINT THAT

12

	

FOR AQUILA'S SIGNIFICANT MISSOURI JURISDICTIONAL

13

	

OPERATIONS YOU HAVE PROPOSED UNREASONABLY LOW COST

14

	

LEVELS FOR VARIOUS EXECUTIVE, REPORTING AND

15

	

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS?

16

	

A.

	

By way of background, at page 16 of his rebuttal testimony Mr. Empson

17

	

provides what is intended to be examples of where I have purportedly allowed

18

	

ridiculously low cost levels for the Chief Executive Officer, Financial

19

	

Reporting, Shareholder Relations, and Corporate Secretary and Records

20

	

Management departments . He provides the amounts I have allowed for these

21

	

functions - basically concluding that the amounts recommended for Missouri

22

	

jurisdictional cost of service development are unreasonably low for a typical

23

	

$500-million-in-revenues energy utility.



1

	

In response, I note that Aquila has not been operating, and will not operate for

2

	

some future period of time, as a typical energy utility .

	

Further, Aquila's

3

	

management and organizational structure has not historically been established

4

	

as a typical energy utility.

	

Specifically, it is my contention that historically

5

	

Aquila's executive management departments have devoted significant efforts to

6

	

Aquila's stated goal of growth through mergers and acquisitions . Additionally,

7

	

in recent years Aquila has engaged in what it refers to as "value cycle"

8 investing .

9

10

	

Q.

	

WHAT IS MEANT BY THE TERM "VALUE CYCLE" INVESTING?

11

	

The following excerpt taken from a speech delivered by Robert Green,

12

	

President and Chief Operating Officer of Aquila during calendar year 2001, to

13

	

the Electrical Equipment Representatives Association on April 30, 2001 in Las

14

	

Vegas, Nevada, describes the Company's "value cycle" strategy as follows:

15

	

One major change is a whole new way of looking at our
16

	

business . Since 1997, we have created a new stream of earnings
17

	

through the concept of value cycles .

	

What I mean by "value
18

	

cycle" is that we invest in a business, then improve on its
19

	

operations, and then break it down into its essential revenue-
20

	

making parts . Some of those parts we keep, some we spin off,
21

	

and some we invite investors to share in. To put it another way,
22

	

we bring a business up to par and then we monetize its
23

	

constituent parts .
24
25

	

We do this in various ways depending on the particular business
26

	

and the pertinent markets.
27
28

	

For example, recently we took the Aquila subsidiary and offered
29

	

it to private investors via an IPO . Or to simplify it, for purposes
30

	

of investment, we basically separated Aquila from the UtiliCorp
31

	

parent company.
32

10



1

	

Later Mr. Green goes on to state how the "value cycle investment strategy" has

2

	

been employed with regard to Aquila's international holdings :

3

	

The Aquila IPO was probably the most visible application of our
4

	

value cycle concept to date . However, we've been doing this all
5

	

across the company . Wherever we find a part of our operations
6

	

that we can monetize, we are taking a hard look at whether we
7

	

want to hang on to it, seek partners to help run it, or even spin it
8

	

off.
9

10

	

For instance, in Canada, we have chosen to concentrate on
11

	

distribution operations . Consequently, we are in the process of
12

	

selling West Kootenay Power's generation assets . And last
13

	

November we sold the retail part of a utility that we acquired in
14

	

Alberta named TransAlta.
15
16'

	

In Australia, we took a different approach . Last year we moved
17

	

our electric and gas retail operations to a new joint venture with
18

	

Shell Australia and Woodside Energy . We renamed the
19

	

enterprise Pulse Energy. As Australia moves toward full
20

	

deregulation, Pulse is well positioned to be the first national
21

	

retailer of energy, especially with Shell Oil's strong brand
22

	

recognition .
23
24

	

And so it goes . By moving through the value cycle, we can
25

	

dramatically increase our value, focus our energies where they
26

	

are the most effective, and position ourselves for new markets .
27
28

	

It requires constant reappraisal of our company.
29
30
31

	

It is the continuing cycle of investing, changing or attempting to improve

32

	

operations, reappraising and then selling businesses or piece parts of business

33

	

that I believe at least a select few "high level" management departments have

34

	

historically spent a good deal of their time contemplating and implementing .

35

	

Importantly, the "value cycle" investing strategy has historically been a

36

	

prevalent focus of senior Aquila management regarding international as well as

37

	

domestic holdings .

	

The efforts that upper management has historically devoted



1

	

to mergers and acquisitions as well as "value cycle" investing can be expected

2

	

to diminish. However, given the work yet to be undertaken, as discussed in the

3

	

attached SEC Form 10-Q, it is obvious that much effort will be required by

4

	

senior management to insure financial survival through selling and exiting many

5

	

business operations .

6

7

	

Q. DOES THE "VALUE CYCLE" PHILOSOPHY LEAD YOU TO

8

	

BELIEVE AQUILA'S UPPER MANAGEMENT HAD DELEGATED

9

	

MUCH OF ITS AUTHORITY REGARDING REGULATED

10 OPERATIONS?

11

	

A.

	

Yes, I contend that Aquila's upper management has been able to devote

12

	

significant efforts to its mergers and acquisitions strategy as well as its "value

13

	

cycle" investing strategy by delegating to other, lower level executive

14

	

departments many of the functions and activities that one envisions a typical

15

	

non-diversified electric utility's senior executive management team to

16

	

undertake. I contend that by delegating to lower level executive, reporting and

17

	

governance departments, Aquila's senior executive management has been able

18

	

to devote more time and resources to its stated strategy of undertaking

19

	

acquisitions and "value cycle investing :"

20

21

	

Q.

	

PLEASE EXPLAIN.

22

	

A.

	

There are many layers of management at Aquila . With its size and significant

23

	

historical diversity, Aquila has established IBU and ESF departments below the



1

	

executive ESF departments which I contend undertake the decision making,

2

	

guidance and operational oversight that one envisions or expects senior

3

	

executive utility departments to undertake in a typical electric or gas utility. On

4

	

the table below I list a number of ESF departments along with their purpose as

5

	

set forth within the Company's Cost Allocation Manual. I believe a review of

6

	

those activity and purpose descriptions demonstrate the point that I am making

7

	

- namely, that many typical senior or executive management's functions have

8

	

been delegated, at least in part, to such noted departments for which I am not

9

	

proposing any disallowance:

13

Dep't Department Description of Functions and Activities
No. Title Undertaken b Department
1029 VP of Executive expenses incurred by the VP of

Production Production who provides production oversight for
all regulated electric generation plants in MO, KS
and CO.

1043 VP - Regulated Executive expenses incurred by the VP ofRegulated
Power Group Power Services who provide oversightforplants in

MO, KS, and CO, and oversight for production,
dispatching, wholesale customers, and regulated
off-system sales in MO, KS, and CO.

6131 MO Electric SR Manages electric generation, transmission and
VP distribution operations for the State of Missouri

6312 Financial Develop/manage/maintain monthly reports, provide
MGMT - AQN financial analysis and business counsel, oversee
Central Support financial/accounting processes, and direct the

preparation of budgets and forecasts for US
Networks

4220 Compensation Responsible for design, development & management
Administration of all compensation programs to Aquila, Inc .

employees . This includes domestic (All domestic
employees regardless of divisions) & intemational
compensation programs, for which costs are directly
charged to the international business units .

4223 HR Executive Responsible for general oversight of the
corporation's HR department . Also responsible for
administration of employee awards programs .
(Emahasis added



I In addition to emphasizing that many executive, reporting and governance

2 functions have been delegated to departments for which I am proposing no

3 disallowance, I remind the Commission that I have proposed the disallowance

4 of only halfof the allocable costs of disputed departments - in consideration or

5 in recognition of the fact that even with a degree of delegation of executive,

6 reporting and governance functions to other departments, the noted ESF

7 departments no doubt provide some level of oversight for such activities .

8

9 Q. IN PREVIOUS ANSWERS YOU HAVE NOTED HOW YOU BELIEVE

10 AQUILA HAS BEEN MANAGED HISTORICALLY. GIVEN THE

11 RECENT DOWNSIZING AND AQUILA'S PROCLAIMED GOAL TO

12 RETURN TO BECOMING A TRADITIONAL ENERGY UTILITY, DO

13 YOU STILL BELIEVE YOUR ADJUSTMENT IS APPROPRIATE FOR

14 SETTING RATES PROSPECTIVELY?

15 A. Yes . First, as previously noted, Aquila's own public documents state the

16 downsizing and unwinding is expected to go on for a couple more years .

17

18 Q. HAVE YOU SEEN ANYTHING ELSE THAT DEMONSTRATES YOUR

19 ADJUSTMENT IS APPROPRIATE?

20 A. Yes, the Board of Directors minutes note that **

21

22



3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

	

* Indeed, I am hopeful that the issues and

23

	

arguments regarding how senior Aquila management spends its time that have

24

	

been litigated for approximately the last decade and a half will evaporate as

25

	

Aquila "returns to its roots" to become a Plane-Jane regulated energy utility.

26

	

However, for reasons noted, I do not believe Aquila is there yet - as suggested

27

	

byMr. Empson in rebuttal testimony. Accordingly, for reasons set forth within

15 NP



1

	

my direct and this surrebuttal testimony, I strongly urge this Commission to

2

	

adopt the partial disallowance of a select few high-level ESF department costs

3

	

so that Missouri jurisdictional ratepayers are not unnecessarily saddled with

4

	

costs related to Aquila's exiting from a number of unregulated and international

5

	

business operations .

6

7

	

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS BUILDING COSTS

8

	

Q.

	

PLEASE SUMMARIZE MR. EMPSON'S REBUTTAL ARGUMENTS

9

	

OFFERED IN OPPOSITION TO YOUR ADJUSTMENT TO

10

	

ELIMINATE A PORTION OF THE COMPANY'S CORPORATE

11

	

HEADQUARTER BUILDING COSTS.

12

	

A.

	

Mr. Empson argues that the building cost adjustment should be rejected stating :

13

	

"

	

I failed to recognize that energy utilities have average vacancy rates of

14

	

13%.

	

Accordingly, my calculated adjustment should have started by

15

	

assuming 13% of the corporate headquarters building will be vacant at

16

	

any given time .

17

	

"

	

Aquila designed and built the building with much-smaller-than-industry-

18

	

average cubicle spaces. Further, he argues that the Company is

19

	

reexamining its office density practices - suggesting that the Company

20

	

may be about to increase the size of its office cubicles - thus effectively

21

	

absorbing the space in now-unused cubicles . He concludes by stating

22

	

that Aquila should not be penalized for historically and presently being

23

	

very aggressive in its office cubicle sizing .



1 " The office space at the Raytown Complex has become overcrowded -

2 and a relocation of Raytown employees to the headquarters office

3 building is being considered .

4

5 Q. HOW DO YOU RESPOND TO MR. EMPSON'S POINT THAT AT

6 LEAST A PORTION OF THE OFFICE SPACE WILL ALWAYS BE

7 VACANT TO ACCOMMODATE GROWTH IN EMPLOYMENT,

8 REDESIGN OF USAGE, OR SPECIAL PROJECTS.

9 A. First, I do not believe Aquila will be experiencing growth in employment for the

10 foreseeable future . However, I do believe that some level of vacancy can be

11 expected due to normal turnover in the workforce, and therefore, some normal

12 level of office vacancy could be considered in the development of the building

13 cost adjustment .

14

15 Q. WHAT ABOUT THE INTERNATIONAL FACILITIES MANAGEMENT

16 ASSOCIATION ("IFMA") STUDY DISCUSSED BY MR. EMPSON IN

17 HIS REBUTTAL TESTIMONY?

18 A. Mr. Empson has suggested that, pursuant to an International Facilities

19 Management Association ("IFMA") study, energy utilities experience an

20 average vacancy rate of 13%. I have reviewed the study that Mr. Empson relies

21 upon. I note that it was a 1997 study. Further, and more importantly, Mr.

22 Empson has relied upon an energy utility vacancy rate statistic for all energy

23 utility facilities - which would include many more facilities than just corporate



I headquarters . On the very same page of the noted IMFA study from which Mr.

2 Empson derived his energy utility average vacancy rate of 13% an average

3 headquarters vacancy rate of 8.0 percent is shown .

4

5 Q. HAVE YOU ATTACHED A COPY OF THE IFMA STUDY AS A

6 SCHEDULE TO THIS TESTIMONY?

7 A. I would have liked to, but Aquila asserted copyright laws prevented OPC from

8 being able to copy this study.

9

10 Q. DO YOU BELIEVE SOME LEVEL OF ONGOING OFFICE VACANCY

11 IS REASONABLE?

12 A. As previously noted, I accept that it is reasonable to assume some level of

13 ongoing office vacancy. Accordingly, on attached Schedule JRD-l I have

14 revised my original adjustment for the 20 West 9`" headquarters building cost to

15 consider the average headquarters vacancy rate from the same study that Mr.

16 Empson relies upon. Even the 8.0% vacancy rate from the 1997 study appears a

17 bit high. Nonetheless, I have accepted its applicability when revising my

18 original adjustment.

19

20 Q. PLEASE EXPAND UPON MR. EMPSON'S ARGUMENTS REGARDING

21 AGGRESSIVE CUBICLE SIZING .

22 Mr. Empson appears to be suggesting that the Company is about to embark

23 upon a reexamination of its office layout "since experience has shown that it



1

	

was not the most productive due to noise levels and privacy issues ." According

2

	

to Mr. Empson, if the Company had followed the industry standard for

3

	

developing office cubicle sizes that the now underutilized space would be easily

4 absorbed.

5

6

	

Q.

	

ARE YOU ALSO ACCEPTING MR. EMPSON'S ARGUMENT THAT

7

	

THERE IS ESSENTIALLY NO UNUSED OFFICE SPACE IF ONE

8

	

CONSIDERS THE AGGRESSIVE CUBICLE SIZING THAT AQUILA

9

	

HAS HISTORICALLY EMPLOYED?

10

	

A.

	

No. The building is touted to be Kansas City's first skyscraper - having been

11

	

built in 1888 . However, it was completely gutted and fully renovated utilizing

12

	

state-of-the-art design and technology.

	

Specifically, as highlighted in a multi-

13

	

page glossy brochure dedicated to showcasing the benefits of the building that

14

	

was distributed at the time the building opened in the late-1996-early-1997 time

15

	

frame, Aquila claimed the following:

16

	

State-of-the-art office design, extremely efficient use of energy
17

	

and advanced communications systems combine at 20 West
18

	

Ninth to define the office ofthe 21rst century.
19
20

	

Leading-edge technology has been used to make work spaces
21

	

both efficient and comfortable . All offices are open, with the
22

	

exception of more than 80 conference rooms that can be used for
23

	

confidential meetings . (emphasis added)
24
25

	

Further, the IMFA study that Mr. Empson relies upon stated :
26
27

	

A common measurement for comparing space utilization is
28

	

square footage per person. Respondents were asked to provide
29

	

occupant count, not employees count . This metric along with
30

	

several others in this report indicates space per person is



1

	

decreasing in comparison to similar measurements from
2

	

previous years. (Emphasis added)
3

4

	

Thus, the 20 West 0' headquarters office building has very recently been

5

	

renovated - essentially rebuilt on the inside - purportedly utilizing state-of-the-

6

	

art office design that was consistent with the trend noted in the 1997 IFMA

7

	

study upon which Mr. Empson relies upon for his criticism . Given these facts,

8

	

it would appear simply too coincidental that at exactly the same time the

9

	

Company terminates a significant portion of its work force that the Company

10

	

begins to question its configuration of its office space that it was proudly touting

11

	

to be state-of-the-art immediately after the building was completely refurbished

12

	

just a few years ago .

13

14

	

Q.

	

DOYOU HAVE ANY OTHER THOUGHTS ON THIS TOPIC?

15

	

A.

	

Yes, I would note that I do not believe the 20 West 9th building has ever been a

16

	

bargain for ratepayers .

	

The final cost of the building came in significantly

17

	

higher than original estimates . The assumed alternative lease rates considered

18

	

when preparing the after-completion or final feasibility study for the building

19

	

were considerably higher than those used in the preliminary feasibility study for

20

	

the building . And in its final or after-completion feasibility study the Company

21

	

assumed that the value would significantly appreciate so that it would ultimately

22

	

be sold for a significant gain . The assumption of appreciation in value used in

23

	

the final feasibility study was not present in the preliminary feasibility study -

24

	

nor does the Company make such an assumption when developing its proposed



1

	

depreciation rates . These and other issues were initially raised in the 1997 rate

2

	

case - though ultimately the issue was not pursued. I emphasize these points -

3

	

not to revive an issue once settled or dropped - but rather, to simply emphasize

4

	

that the marginal feasibility of the building - with its current cubicle sizing -

5

	

would become much worse if the Company were to reconfigure the building so

6

	

that it could absorb space in currently unused cubicle space .

7

8

	

Q.

	

TURNING TO MR. EMPSON'S FINAL POINT, HOW DO YOU

9

	

RESPOND TO HIS SUGGESTION THAT PART OF THE UNUSED

10

	

HEADQUARTERS SPACE IS ABOUT TO BE ABSORBED BY

11

	

PERSONNEL BEING TRANSFERRED FROM THE COMPANY'S

12

	

RAYTOWN FACILITIES?

13

	

Mr. Empson claims that the office space in the Company's Raytown office

14

	

facility "has become too crowded and relocation to the 20 West 9ch Complex is

15

	

being considered to relieve the pressure ." However, I asked the Company in

16

	

OPC Data Request No. 868 to:

17

	

Please provide the number of employees that the Raytown
18

	

complex is designed to accommodate . Provide also the current
19

	

number of employees who work exclusively or as their primary
20

	

office residence at the Raytown complex
21
22

	

The Company responded to OPC Data Request No. 868 as follows :
23
24

	

Aquila uses a cube configuration that, within certain constraints,
25

	

can be adjusted in terms of location and cube size to match
26

	

available floor space to the number of employees occupying the
27

	

facilities :
28
29

	

"

	

Raytown is currently designed and configured with 505
30

	

workstations (as of 10/17/03) .

21



1

	

Raytown currently has 465 employees (as of 10/17/03
2
3

	

The current occupied workstation count does not include
4

	

additional workstations that will be manned by the 32 call center
5

	

employees who are currently training .
6
7

	

Further, within OPC Data Request No. 869 I asked the Company to :
8
9

	

Please provide the number of employees working at the Raytown
10

	

complex that are expected to transfer to the 20 West 9`h Building
11

	

by department, noting the actual or proposed transfer date .
12
13

	

The Company responded to OPC No. 869 by stating :
14
15

	

Employee moves among campuses are fluid and dependent upon
16

	

availability of space, location of associated departments and
17

	

other special considerations . Any such moves are coordinated by
18

	

the Facilities department, and must be requested by department
19

	

heads and approved by senior management. There are no
20

	

currently approved employee transfers at the time of this
21

	

response .
22
23

	

Finally, in OPC Data Request No. 870 I asked the Company to:
24
25

	

Please provide the number of employees by department or
26

	

organization, if any, expected to transfer from any facility other
27

	

than the Raytown complex to the 20`h West 9`h Building or
28

	

Annex . Note from which office facility such employees are
29

	

transferring, the expected date of the transfer, as well as the
30

	

expected disposition of the facility from which such employees
31

	

are transferring. In other words, is such facility being sold or is a
32

	

lease being terminated?
33
34

	

The Company responded by stating:
35
36

	

The response to this data request is the same as the response to
37

	

data request OPC-0869 (quoted above) .
38

39

	

In light ofthe Company's responses to the data requests quoted above, it is not

40

	

apparent that there are any real or eminent plans to relocate and/or reconfigure

41

	

office space .

42

22



I Q. PLEASE SUMMARIZE YOUR SURREBUTTAL TESTIMONY

2 REGARDING THE ISSUE OF THE COMPANY'S HEADQUARTERS

3 FACILITY.

4 A. I have revised my original adjustment to consider an average headquarters

5 building vacancy rate of 8.0% as referenced in the IFMA study relied upon by

6 Mr. Empson. However, I do not accept any of Mr. Empson's other arguments

7 that attempt to justify full inclusion of the building's cost in the development of

8 rates in this case .

9

10 Q. DOES THIS CONCLUDE YOUR SURREBUTTAL TESTIMONY?

11 A. Yes, it does .



Adjustment to Eliminate Cost of Excess Capacity at Aquila's
Downtown Office Building Located at 20 West 9th

Line
No .

3

	

Distribution to MPS Utilizing August 2003 ESF Allocation Factors: as Reflected In "Updated" Case
4 1,300,807 20.30% 6.80% 264,064 88,455 165,311 98,753

5

	

Adjustment to Test Year Actual Operating Expense to Eliminate
6

	

Excess Capacity of 20 West 9th Building Allocated to MPS
7

	

Electric Operations :

8

	

Work Stations In Use at 20 West 9th Building (OPC-865)

	

544

9

	

Work Station Capability at 20 West 9th Building (OPC-865)

	

847

10

	

Normal Occupance Rate Assumed (8.0% vacancy rate)

	

92%

11

	

Subtotal Available Work Stations (Line 9 X Line 10)

	

779

12

	

Excess Capacity Percentage

	

30.19%

	

30.19%

	

30.19

13

	

Adjustment If Posted to Test Year Actual Operating Results
14

	

Total MPS Adjustment (Line No . 2 times Line No . 10)

	

(47,011)

	

(28,083)

	

,

15

	

Percent to MPS Electric Operations (OPC-867)

	

86.874%

	

92 .808%

16

	

Total MPS Electric Operations Adjustment (Line 12 times Line 13)

	

(40,840)

	

(26,063)

17

	

Retail Jurisdictional Allocation Percentages

	

99.45133%

	

99.45133%

18

	

Adjustment to MPS Test Year Actual Electric Retail Operations
19

	

(Line No . 14 times Line No . 15)

	

$

	

(40,616)

	

$

	

(25,920)

20

	

Adjustment If Posted to Aquila's Updated/Adjusted Operating Results
21

	

(Line No . 4 times Line No.10)

	

(49,905)

	

(29,812)

22

	

Percent to MPS Electric Operations (OPC-867)

	

86.874%

	

92.808%

23

	

Total MPS Electric Operations Adjustment (Line 19 times Line 20)

	

(43,354)

	

(27,668)

24

	

Retail Jurisdictional Allocation Percentages

	

99 .45133%

	

99.45133%

25

	

Adjustment to MPS Test Year Actual Electric Retail Operations
26

	

Line No . 21 time Line No . 22)

	

$

	

(43,116)

	

$

	

(27,516)

27

	

Adjustment to Electric Jurisdictional Depreciation Expense

	

MPS Electric Jurisdictional
28

	

Grass Plant in Service by Business Unit

	

(Schedule JRD-1, page 1)

	

$(4,086,664)

29

	

MPSC Staff Proposed Depreciation Rate (Depre Expense Schedule 5 .5)

	

2.22

30

	

Reduction to MPSC Staffs Proposed Jurisdictional Depreciation Expense Level

	

$

	

(90,724)

Schedule JRD-1
Page 1 of 2

Total Percent to Total $ Amounts to : FERC Account - MPS
Company MPS MPS 921 935

Test Year Actual Distribution (Source : OPC-867)
1,300,807 19.12% 6.30% 248,751 81,979 155,725 93,026



Adjustment to Eliminate Cost of Excess Office Space
Allocated to MPS Electric Rate Base

Total
Company
at 12131102

Adjustment to Eliminate Total Divisional Excess Office Capacity in Downtown Kansas City

Adjustment to Eliminate Jurisdictional Divisional Excess Office Capacity in Downtown Kansas City

-

-

Schedule JRD- 1
Page 2 of 2

Gross Plant $ 60,965,447 $13,611,890 $1,263,680

Accum. Depre. 5,231,176 1,167,976 108,431

Net Plant $ 55,734,272 $12,443,913 $1,155,249

Excess Capacity
Percentage (1) 30.19% 30.19% 30.19%

Gross Plant $ (4,086,664) $ (381,485)

Accum. Depre. $ (35D,659) $ (32,734) $ - $

Net Plant $ (3,736,006) $ (348,751) $ - $

Note (1)
Work Stations In Use at 20 West 9th Building (OPC-865) 544

Work Station Capability at 20 West 9th Building (OPC-865) 847

Occupancy Rate (Vacancy Rate of 8.0% Assumed) 92%

Subtotal Workstations Available on Average 779

Excess Capacity Percentage 30.19%

Gross Plant $ (18,404,486) $ (4,109,210) $ (381,485)

Accum . Depre. (1,579,208) (352,593) (32,734)

Net Plant - $ (16,825,279) $ (3,756,617) $ (348,751)

Jurisdictional Factors 99.45133% 100 .00%
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(Mark One)

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2003

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

	

to

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

20 West Ninth Street, Kansas City, Missouri
(Address of principal executive offices)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of
Exchange .

	

©

	

o "

FORM 10-Q

OR

Commission file number. 1-03562

AQ'UILA, INC.

44-0541877
(IRS Employer Identification No.)

64105
(Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code

	

816-421-6600

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by
Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for
such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to
such filing requirements for the past 90 days . Yes Ox

	

No O

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant's classes of common stock, as
of the latest practicable date .

Class

	

Outstanding at October 29, 2003
Common Stock, $1 par value

	

195,166,982



PART I-FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1 . FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Information regarding the consolidated financial statements is set forth on pages 3 through 23.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSIONANDANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITIONAND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations can be found
on pages 24 through 47 .

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUTMARKETRISK

We are subject to market risk as described on pages 65 through 68 of our 2002 Annual Report on
Form 10-K See discussion on page 46 of this document for changes in market risk since December 31,
2002 .

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Information regarding disclosure controls and procedures can be found on page 47 .

PART II-OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Not applicable .

ITEM 2. CHANGES IN SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Not applicable .

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable .

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OFMATTERS TOA VOTE OF SECURITIES HOLDERS

Not applicable .

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITSAND REPORTS ONFORM 8-K

Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K can be found on page 48 .



Part 1. Financial Information

Item 1.

	

Financial Statements
Aquila, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Income-Unaudited

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements .

3

Three Months Ended

In millions, except per share amounts

September
2003

30,
2002

Sales:
Electricity-regulated $ 25.3 $ 220.0
Natural gas-regulated 98.4 77.3
Electricity-non-regulated 30.1 85.6
Natural gas-non-regulated (64.3) 59.5
Other-non-regulated 22.5 8.9

Total sales 322.0 451.3
Cost of sales:

Electricity-regulated 112.6 98.4
Natural gas-regulated 54.1 39.5
Electricity-non-regulated 18.2 177.6
Natural gas-non-regulated 2.7 83.2
Other-non-regulated 5.7 5.8

Total cost of sales 193.3 404.5
Gross profit 128.7 46.8
Operating expenses :

Operating expense 122.2 141.5
Restructuring charges .6 116.4
Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets 90.9 39.0
Depreciation and amortization expense 38 .6 39.4

Total operating expenses 22.3 336.3
Other income (expense):

Equity in earnings of investments (.1) 60.1
Minority interest in income of subsidiaries - 2.4
Other income 4.0 .9

Total other income (expense) 3.9 63.4
Interest expense:

Interest expense 75.1 62.4
Minority interest in income of partnership and trust - 4.6

Total interest expense 75.1 67.0
Loss from' continuing operations before income taxes (194.8 293.1
Income tax benefit (50.6 ; M1.7~
Loss from continuing operations (144 .2) (191 .4)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (25 .7) (140 .2
Net loss $(169 .9) $ (331.6)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Continuing operations $

~ .13~
74 $ (1 .07)

Discontinued operations (.78
Net loss $ (.87) $ (1.85)

Dividends per common share $ - $ .175



Aquila, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income-Unaudited

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements .

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

In millions, except per share amounts 2003 2002
Sales:
Electricity-regulated $544.5 $ 525 .8
Natural gas-regulated 675.9 506.1
Electricity-non-regulated (.5) 299.1
Natural gas-non-regulated (33.4) 348.8
Other-non-regulated 25.7 39 .5

Total sales 1,212.2 1,719.3
Cost of sales:
Electricity-regulated 264.6 239.9
Natural gas-regulated 462.0 315.1
Electricity-non-regulated 65.2 286.4
Natural gas-non-regulated 17.5 293.2
Other-non-regulated 16.8 17.2

Total cost of sales 826.1 1,151 .8
Gross profit 3861 567.5
Operating expenses :

Operating expense 403.9 482.9
Restructuring charges 27.7 187.8
Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets 191.7 933.6
Depreciation and amortization expense 123.8 117.8

Total operating expenses 747.1 1,722.1
Other income (expense):

Equity in earnings of investments 61.0 128.4
Minority interest in income of subsidiaries - 6.6
Other income 67.3 1.8

Total other income (expense) 128.3 136.8
Interest expense:

Interest expense 206.9 148.8
Minority interest in income of partnership and trust - 15.7

Total interest expense 206.9 164.5
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (439 .6) (1,182 .3)
Income tax benefit (125 .7) (196.4)
Loss from continuing operations (313 :9) (985.9)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 11.5 (111.3)
Net loss $(302.4) $(1,097.2)
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share:

Continuing operations $ (1.61) $ (6.44)
Discontinued operations .06 (.73)
Net loss $ (1 .55) $ (7.17)

Dividends per common share $ - $ .775



Aquila, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements .

In mdions
September 30,

2003
nau e

December 31,
2002

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 632.0 $ 386.1
Restricted cash 263.7 480.9
Funds on deposit 413.5 310.3
Accounts receivable, net 580.6 1,614.6
Inventories and supplies 174.2 136.2
Price risk management assets 278.9 519.3
Prepayments and other 157.2 390.8
Current assets of discontinued operations 273 .5 236.0

Total current assets 2,773.6 4,074.2
Property, plant and equipment, net 2,683 .3 2,656.3
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 315 .1 . 914.9
Price risk management assets 509.4 393.5
Goodwill, net 111.0 111.0
Deferred charges and other assets 275.8 260.1
Non-current assets of discontinued operations 998.1 849.2

Total Assets $7,666 .3 $9,259.2

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt $ 415.6 $ 355.9
Short-term debt - 287.8
Accounts payable 516.1 1,572.6
Accrued liabilities 330.8 320.8
Price risk management liabilities 261.0 469.5
Current portion of long-tern gas contracts 84.3 81.5
Customer funds on deposit 274.0 242.8
Current liabilities of discontinued operations 385.4 266.0

Total current liabilities 2,267.2 3,596.9
Long-term liabilities:

Long-term debt, net 2,291.8 2,270.6
Deferred income taxes and credits 355.1 423.0
Price risk management liabilities 392.4 282.8
Long-term gas contracts, net 609.6 671.2
Minority interest - 13.4
Deferred credits 194.3 207.7
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations 178.3 185.7

Total long-term liabilities 4,021.5 4,054.4
Common shareholders' equity 1,377.6 1,607.9
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity $7,666.3 $9,259 .2



Aquila, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income-Unaudited

Aquila, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders' Equity

September 30,

	

December 31,
In millions

	

2003

	

2002
(Unaudited)

Common stock: authorized 400 million shares at September 30, 2003

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements .

and December 31, 2002, par value $1 per share; 195,163,210 shares
issued at September 30, 2003 and 193,782,782 shares issued at
December 31, 2102; authorized 20 million shares of Class A
common stock, par value $1 per share, none issued $ 195.2 $ 193.8

Premium on capital stock 3,161.3 3,158.6
Retained deficit (2,013.9) (1,711 .5)
Treasury stock, at cost (1,588 and 7,443 shares at September 30, 2003

and December 31, 2002, respectively) - -
Accumulated other comprehensive income (losses) 35.0 (33.0)
Total common shareholders' equity $ 1,377.6 $ 1,607.9

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

In millions 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net loss $(169.9) $(331.6) $(302.4) $(1,097.2)
Unrealized translation adjustments, net of tax (17.7) (13.4) 69.5 8.2
Unrealized cash flow hedges, net of tax 4.1 (19.4) 5.8 (30.0)
Unrealized loss from available-for-sale securities - - (7.3) -
Comprehensive loss $(183.5) $(364.4) $(234.4) $(1,119.0)



Aquila, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows-Unaudited

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements .

7

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

In millions 2003 2002
xes e
See Note S)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities :
Net loss $(302.4) $(1,097.2)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used for operating activities :

Depreciation and amortization expense 132 .4 184 .8
Restructuring charges 27.7 188.0
Cash paid for restructuring and impairment charges (163.1) (59.6)
Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets 239 .2 1,170.2
Provision for uncollectible notes receivable - 20.0
Foreign currency gains (41.2) -
Net changes in price risk management assets and liabilities ' 34 .5 301 .1
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits (109.1) (15 .9
Equity in earnings of investments (61.0) (133.3 ;
Dividends and fees from investments 38.9 74.5
Minority interests in income of subsidiaries (6 .5)
Changes in certain assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and divestitures :

Restricted cash (111.4) (131.2)
(22.43Funds on deposit (118.2)

Accounts receivable/payable ; net (42.3) (76.6)
Accounts receivable sales programs (234.5)
Inventories and supplies (39.5) 81.8
Prepayments and other 221 .0 (98 .2)
Deferred charges and other assets 22.9 ( .2)
Accrued liabilities 133.5 (246.3)
Customer funds on deposit 30.0 55.3
Deferred credits (20:4) (52.1)
Other (26 .1) (9.4)

Cash used for operating activities (154.6) (107.7)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities :
Network capital expenditures (171.2) (193.5)
Merchant capital expenditures (36.3) (142.7)
Net increase in merchant notes receivable - (67.4)
Investments in international businesses - (193.0)
Investments in communication services (9.5) (46.5)
Cash proceeds received on sale of assets 905.7 127.7
Merchant investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries (44.5 (10.5)
Other (14.93 31.5

Cash provided from (used for) investing activities 629 .3 (494.4)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

Issuance of common stock - 549.8
Issuance of long-term debt 412 .0 1,106.4
Retirement of long-term debt (464.2) 600 .3
Retirement of company-obligated preferred securities - 100.03
Short-term borrowings (repayments), net (57.9) 62.0
Cash paid on long-term gas contracts (58.8) (58.5)
Cash dividends paid - (115.7)
Other 2.2 10.4

Cash provided from (used for) financing activities (166.7) 854 .1
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 308 .0 252 .0
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period (includes $55.6 million and $45 .0

million, respectively, of cash included in current assets of discontinued operations) 441 .7 262 .9
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (includes $117.7 million and $64.8 million,

respectively, of cash included in current assets of discontinued operations) $ 749 .7 $ 514 .9



AQUILA, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

1.

	

Summar,_of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the accounting policies described in the consolidated financial statements and related notes
included in our 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on April 15, 2003 . You should read our 2002 Form 10-K in conjunction with this report . The
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders'
Equity as of December 31, 2002, were derived from our audited financial statements, but do not
include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. In our
opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments (which include only
normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair representation of our financial position and the
results of our operations . Certain estimates and assumptions have been made in preparing the
consolidated financial statements that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date .of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of sales and expenses during the reporting periods
shown. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified where
necessary to conform to the 2003 presentation. In particular, as discussed in Note 4, the results of
operations from certain assets that were sold in 2002 and 2003 and certain assets that are currently
held for sale have been reclassified as discontinued operations in the accompanying balance sheets and
statements of income for all periods presented .

Stock Based Compensation

We issue stock options to employees from time to time and account for these options under
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" (APB 2).
All stock options issued are granted at the common stock's market price at date of issuance . Therefore
we record no compensation expense related to stock options. We historically offered employees a stock
purchase plan that enabled them to purchase our common stock at a 15% discount from the market
price . This program was suspended during the second quarter of 2003 when all authorized shares in the
plan were issued . Shareholder approval is required to authorize additional shares for this program to
continue .



Because we account for options and discounts under APB 25, we disclose a pro forma net loss and
a basic and diluted loss per share as if we reflected the estimated fair value of options and discounts as
compensation expense. Our pro forma net loss and basic and diluted loss per share are as follows:

New Accounting Pronouncements
Variable Interest Entities

Derivative Instruments

Financial Instruments

In April 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) announced that it would require
all companies to expense the value of employee stock options. The FASB plans to issue a new
statement in the second half of 2004 that will further define the method of determining fair value and
recognizing compensation expense.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No . 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities, an interpretation of ARB No. 51." This interpretation addresses the consolidation by business
enterprises of variable interest entities as defined in the interpretation. The interpretation is effective
immediately for variable interest entities created or obtained after January 31, 2003 and is effective on
December .31, 2003 for variable interest entities that existed prior to February 1, 2003 . We do not
expect the application of this interpretation to have a material impact on our financial position or
results of operations .

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, "Amendment
of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" (SFAS 149) . This Statement
clarified under what circumstances a contract with an initial net investment meets the characteristic of a
derivative as discussed in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, `Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" (SFAS 133) . It also clarified when a derivative contains
a financing component that warrants special reporting in the statement of cash flows. SEAS 149 also
amended certain other existing pronouncements regarding derivatives. It is generally effective for
contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, and was applied prospectively. The adoption of
this standard had no material impact on our financial position or results of operations .

In May 2003, the FASB issued SEAS No. 150, `Accounting for Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity" (SFAS 150) . This statement established standards for the
classification and measurement of certain financial instruments that have the characteristics of both
liabilities and equities . It requires that an issuer classify a financial instrument that is within the scope

Tbree Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

In millions, except per share amounts 2003 2002 2003 2002
Net loss :
As reported $(169.9) $(331 .6) $(302.4) $(1,097.2)
Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value
method, net of related tax (1.3) (1.3) (4.1) (3.8 )

Pro forma net loss $(171.2) $(332.9) $(306.5) $(1,101.0)
Basic and diluted loss per share:
As reported $ (.87) $ (1.85) $ (1.55) $ (7.17)
Pro forma (.88) (1 .85) (1.58) (7.19)



of the standard as a liability . This standard is effective for all financial instruments entered into or
modified after May 31, 2003, and for the first interim reporting period beginning after June 15, 2003 .
The adoption of this standard had no impact on our financial position or results of operations .

2. RestructuringCharges
In connection with our continued exit from Wholesale Services and the restructuring of our

Domestic Networks group, we have recorded the following restructuring charges:

We incurred severance costs of $2.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, in
connection with the restructuring of Everest Connections, our communications business within
Domestic Networks. This resulted from a reduction of approximately 160 employees . We also incurred
$1.0 million and $1 .7 million of retention payments in the three months and nine months ended
September 30, 2003, respectively, related to the continued wind-down of our domestic and international
energy trading operations in Wholesale Services .

We incurred $13.4 million and $54.1 million of total severance costs far the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2002, respectively, related to the restructuring of Domestic Networks in order to
more closely align it with its regulatory service areas and the decision to exit our energy trading
business in Wholesale Services . These actions resulted in the termination of approximately 1,205 energy
trading employees, 500 Domestic Networks employees and 75 Corporate employees. These charges
were expensed and accrued during the second and third quarters of 2002 and paid out bi-weekly over
the term of the severance benefit. In addition, certain employees of the wholesale energy trading
operations had retention agreements in 2002 to ensure an orderly exit of this business . During the third
quarter of 2002, we paid approximately $28.9 million of retention payments to these employees .
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Three Months
September

Ended
30,

Nine Months
September

Ended
30,

In moons 2003 2002 2003 2002
Domestic Networks:

Severance costs $- $ (.5) $ 2.1 $ 14.8
Disposal of corporate aircraft - .5 - 5.1

Total Domestic Networks - - 2.1 19.9
Capacity Services :

Interest rate swap reductions - - 23.1
Severance costs - (.6)

Tbtal Capacity Services - (.6) 23 .1
Wholesale Services:

Severance costs - 6.5 .8 31.3
Retention payments 1.0 28.9 1.7 28.9
Lease agreements (.3) 36.7 (3) 36.7
Leasehold improvements and equipment - 36.6 - 59.0
Disposal of corporate aircraft - (.2) - 2.0
Other - .5 (.6) 2.0

Total Wholesale Services .7 109.0 1.6 159.9
Corporate and Other severance costs (.1) 8.0 .9 8.0
Total restructuring charges $ .6 $116 .4 $27.7 $187.8

Severance Costs and Retention Payments



Disposal of Corporate Aircraft

The $7.1 million charge for disposal of corporate aircraft for the nine months ended September 30,
2002, primarily included the termination of applicable lease agreements and losses associated with the
sale of our corporate aircraft.

Interest Rate Swap Reductions

We incurred $23.1 million of restructuring charges for the nine months ended September 30, 2003,
to exit interest rate swaps related to our Clay County and Piatt County construction financing
arrangements . As debt related to these facilities was paid down, our interest rate swaps exceeded the
outstanding debt . Thus we reduced our position and realized the loss associated with the cancelled
swaps.

Lease Agreements

During the third quarter of 2002, we recorded a $36.7 million restructuring charge for operating
leases for various office facilities used in the wholesale energy trading operations that we determined
would no longer be used. This charge represented the estimated future net lease costs of these facilities
after estimated sublease recoveries .

Leasehold Improvements and Equipment

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002, we wrote down $36.6 million and
$59.0 million, respectively, of leasehold improvements and equipment in our wholesale energy trading
business that were no longer realizable based on our best estimate of their fair value.

Restructuring Reserve Activity

The following is a summary of the activity for accrued restructuring charges for the nine months
ended September 30, 2003 :

(a) The majority of this liability represents costs accrued for future unused office space with various
lease terms through 2009.

In millions
Severance and Retention Costs:
Accrued severance costs as of December 31, 2002 $ 16.6
Additional expense during the period 5.5
Cash payments during the period (19.5)

Accrued severance and retention costs as of September 30, 2003 $ 2.6

Other Restructuring Costs:
Accrued other restructuring costs as of December 31, 2002 $ 32.6
Additional expense during the period 22.2
Cash payments during the period (38.1)

Accrued other restructuring costs as of September 30, 2003 (a) $ 16.7



Quanta Services
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At June 30, 2002, the cost basis in our 38% equity investment in Quanta Services was $26.69 per
share and was significantly above the trading price of Quanta Services' stock. On July 1, 2002, Quanta
Services announced that it had reduced its earnings forecast due to a continued decline in the
telecommunications industry, reduced utility construction spending, and financial difficulties
surrounding Quanta Services' two largest customers . Quanta Services' share price dropped to
approximately $3.00 per share after this announcement . Because of these factors, and the termination
of our proxy contest for control of Quanta Services in May 2002, we concluded that there was an
other-than-temporary decline in the fair value of this investment. Accordingly, we wrote the investment
down by $692.9 million before tax, or $627.3 million after tax, to its estimated fair value of $3.00 a
share.

In the third quarter of 2002, we sold approximately 8.4 million shares of Quanta stock at an
average price of $2.38 per share for an additional pretax and after-tax loss of $5.2 million, reducing our
ownership percentage from 38% to approximately 27% . In October 2002, we sold an additional
8.0 million Quanta shares at a price of $3 .00 per share. After this sale, our ownership percentage was
approximately 14%. As a result, beginning in November 2002, we accounted for this asset as an

3. Impairment Charges and Net Loss on Sale of Assets
We recorded the following impairment charges and net loss (gain) on sale of assets :

In millions

Three Months
September

2003

Ended
30,
2002

Nine Months
September

2003

Ended
30,
2002

Domestic Networks:
Quanta Services $ - $ 5.2 $ - $698.1
Communications investments - - - 23.1
Other - - (2.2) -
Tbtal Domestic Networks - 5 .2 (2.2) 721 .2

International Networks:
Australia (1.0) (3.0) 1.6 (3.0)
Midlands 4.0 - 4.0 -
Total International Networks 3.0 (3.0) 5.6 (3.0)

Capacity Services :
Acadia tolling agreement 105.5
Turbines (5.1)
Independent power plants 87.9 87.9
Exit from Lodi gas storage investment 21.9 21.9
Termination of Cogentrix acquisition 12.2 12.2
Other 1.4 1.4
Total Capacity Services 87.9 35.5 188.3 35.5

Wholesale Services :
Goodwill - - 178.6
Other 1 .3 - 1 .3
Total Wholesale Services - 1 .3 - 179.9

Total impairment charges and net loss on sale
of assets $ 90.9 $39.0 $191.7 $933.6



available-for-sale security in accordance with SFAS No. 115, `Accounting for Certain Investments in
Debt and Equity Securities" (SFAS 115). We sold our remaining 11.6 million shares during the first
quarter of 2003 at a net price of $2.90 a share.

Communications Investments

During the second quarter of 2002, we determined that certain cost and equity method investments
in communications technology-related businesses were impaired based on continued losses in these
businesses, their failure to achieve certain operational goals, the inability of these businesses to obtain
additional capital, and our assessment of the long-term prospects of these businesses. Accordingly, we
recorded a $23.1 million pretax, or $13.9 million after-tax, impairment charge related to these
investments.

Australia

In the fourth quarter 2002, we recorded $127.2 million of pretax impairment charges relate
'
d to our

Australian investments.

In April 2003, we reached an agreement to sell our interests in Multinet Gas, United Energy
Limited and AlintaGas Limited to a consortium consisting of AlintaGas, AMP Henderson and their
affiliates . In May 2003, as the first step in the sale process, we sold our interest in AlintaGas. We
received approximately $97.0 million in cash proceeds before transaction costs and taxes in May and
July from this sale . In June, we retired $90.7 million of our $200.0 million, 364-day secured credit
facility with these proceeds . We recorded a pretax loss of $2.6 million, or $1.6 million after tax, in the
second quarter of 2003 in connection with this sale .

In July 2003, we completed the sale of our interests in United Energy and Multinet Gas and
received cash proceeds of $525.0 million before transaction costs and taxes. Approximately
$109.3 million of these proceeds were used in July to retire the remaining balance outstanding under
the 364-day secured credit facility. We recorded a pretax gain of $1.0 million, or $.5 million after tax, in
the third quarter of 2003 in connection with this sale .

Midlands

In September 2003,we agreed to terminate our agreement to sell our 79.9% interest in Aquila
Sterling Limited (ASL), the owner of Midlands Electricity plc, .to a subsidiary of Scottish and Southern
Energy plc, The sale was subject to a number of conditions including the successful redemption of the
outstanding bonds issued by Avon Energy Partners Holdings (AEPH), an ASL subsidiary, at 86% of
their par value plus accrued interest. The efforts to meet this bond redemption condition were
unsuccessful and therefore, the parties terminated the agreement .

In October 2003, we and FirstEnergy Corp . reached a definitive agreement to sell 100% of the
ASL shares outstanding to a subsidiary of Powergen UK plc (Powergen) for approximately
$60.0 million . Our share of the proceeds is expected to be approximately $52.0 million before
transaction costs. As a result of this agreement and our continuing analysis of fair value surrounding
this investment, we recorded an additional $4.0 million pretax and after-tax impairment charge to write
this investment down to its estimated fair value less costs to sell. In the fourth quarter 2002, we
recorded a $247.5 million pretax impairment charge related to our investment in Midlands .

Powergen's obligation to acquire ASL is conditioned upon a commitment of the holders of the
outstanding bonds of AEPH to sell their bonds to an affiliate of Powergen for 95.8% of their nominal
value (less fees) plus accrued interest to the date of completion. The sale is also subject to approval
from the European Commission and Kansas Corporation Commission, as well as other customary
closing conditions . We expect this sale to close in the first. quarter of 2004 .
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Acadia Tolling Agreement

In May 2003, we entered into an agreement to terminate our 20-year tolling agreement for the
Acadia power plant in Louisiana . We made a termination payment of $105.5 million in the second
quarter of 2003 . We were then released from the remaining aggregate payment obligation of
$833 .9 million, or $43.5 million on an annual basis .

7lrrbines
During the second quarter of 2003, we completed the contract termination and sale of certain

turbines which had been written down to an estimated realizable value at December 31, 2002. In
connection with the disposition, we recorded a pretax gain of $5.1 million, or $3.2 million after tax.

Independent Power Plants

In the third quarter of 2003, we decided to proceed with the sale .of our investments in
independent power plants, We have received bids from parties interested in acquiring these plants and
are in discussions with these bidders. Two of the power plants, Lake Cogen Ltd. (Lake Cogen) and
Onondaga Cogen Ltd Partnership (Onondaga), are consolidated on our balance sheet. Therefore, in
accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets"
(SFAS 144), we have reported the results of operations and assets of these two plants in discontinued
operations .

The remaining plants are equity method investments that do not qualify for reporting as
discontinued operations under SFAS 144 and are therefore included in continuing operations . We
evaluated the carrying value of these equity method investments based on the bids received and other
internal valuations. The results of this assessment indicated that these investments were impaired.
Therefore, we recorded a pretax impairment charge of $87.9 million, or $69.9 million after tax, to
reduce the carrying value of our investments to their estimated fair value less costs to sell .

Exit from Lodi Gas Storage Investment

In August 2001, Merchant Services and a partner agreed to acquire a 12 Bcf gas storage facility
under construction near Lodi, California . In October 2002, we exited our investment in the Lodi
project due to our exit from the wholesale energy trading business. We owned 50% of WHP
Acquisition Company LLC, a company jointly established with an affiliate of ArcLight Energy Partners
Fund I, L.P. in 2001 to purchase Western Hub Properties, LLC, the developer of the Lodi gas storage
project . Under the settlement, WHP Acquisition Company LLC redeemed Aquila's ownership interest
for cash payments totaling $5.0 million over a five-year period. We were also released from all of our
guarantee obligations relating to this transaction. We recorded a $21 .9 million pretax, or $21.6 million
after-tax loss, on this transaction in the third quarter of 2002 .

Termination of Cogentrix Acquisition

In August 2002, we agreed to terminate the purchase agreement we signed in April 2002 to
acquire Cogentrix Energy, Inc., an independent power producer . We agreed with Cogentrix that due to
the uncertainty of the electric power market, the deterioration of the creditworthiness of some of
Cogentrix's customers and our exit from the wholesale energy trading business, proceeding with the
transaction was impractical and not in either company's interest . In connection with the termination of
this transaction, we expensed legal, consulting and termination fees of $12.2 million pretax, or
$7.4 million after tax, in the third quarter of 2002 .
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Goodwill

In connection with our decision to exit our energy trading operations, we assessed our ability to
realize the goodwill associated with our Wholesale Services business . This assessment was based on our
best estimate of the value of this business in a liquidation, which we determined was less than the
carrying value of its net assets . Because future earnings or sufficient sales proceeds could no longer
support this asset, we wrote off the entire unamortized goodwill balance of $178.6 million in the second
quarter of 2002.

4,

	

Discontinued_Operations
In 2002 and early 2003, we sold our Texas natural gas storage facility, our Texas and

Mid-Continent natural gas pipeline systems, including our natural gas and natural gas liquids processing
assets, our ownership interest in the Oasis Pipe Line Company, our coal terminal and handling facility
(which were all included in our Capacity Services segment) and our Merchant loan portfolio (which was
included in our Wholesale Services segment) .

In September 2003, we reached an agreement to sell our Canadian utility businesses (which are
included in our International Networks segment) for approximately $992 million, including the
repayment or assumption of $228 million of debt, or a net $764 million in proceeds to us before closing
adjustments, transaction costs and taxes. In addition, we will be required to repay $115 million
borrowed by Aquila Networks Canada Corp . under its 364-day unsecured loan . We expect to use the
remaining net proceeds from the sale to pay related taxes and transaction fees, improve our liquidity,
and reduce debt and other obligations . The transaction is subject to approval by the regulatory
commissions in Alberta and British Columbia, among other regulatory bodies, as well as other
customary closing conditions, and is expected to close in the first half of 2004 . If the sale does not close
by June 30, 2004, the sale agreement will automatically terminate. We expect to record a gain on this
sale at the date of close.

In the third quarter of 2003, we decided to proceed with the sale of our investments in
independent power plants . We have received bids fr6m parties interested in acquiring these plants and
are in discussions with these bidders . Two of the power plants, Lake Cogen and Onondaga, are
consolidated on our balance sheet. We have reported the results of operations and assets of these two
plants in discontinued operations . We evaluated the carrying value of these assets based on the bids
received and other internal valuations . The results of this assessment indicated these assets were
impaired . We recorded a pretax impairment charge of $47.5 million, or $39.8 million after tax, to
reduce the carrying value of these assets to their estimated fair value less costs to sell .



We have reported the results of operations from the above assets in discontinued operations in the
Consolidated Statements of Income . The related assets and liabilities included in the sale of these
businesses, as detailed below, have been reclassified as current and non-current assets and liabilities of
discontinued operations on the Consolidated Balance Sheets .

In milUons
September 30,

2003
December 31,

2002
Current assets of discontinued operations :
Cash and cash equivalents $117.7 $ 55.6
Accounts receivable, net 35.2 58.2
Price risk management assets 41.2 25.9
Other current assets 79.4 96.3

Total current assets of discontinued operations $273.5 $236.0
Non-current assets of discontinued operations :

Property, plant and equipment, net $688.2 $524.5
Price risk management assets 52.1 98 .1
Goodwill, net 220.4 188.6
Other non-current assets 37.4 38.0

Total non-current assets of discontinued operations $998 .1 $849.2
Current liabilities of discontinued operations :
Cuaent maturities of long-term debt $ 47.7 $174.8
Short-term debt 215.0 13.2
Accounts payable 29.2 44.0
Other current liabilities 93 .5 34.0

Total current liabilities of discontinued operations $385 .4 $266.0
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations :
Long-term debt, net $129.9 $127.4
Deferred credits 48.4 58.3

Total non-current liabilities of discontinued operations . $178.3 $185.7



The table below shows how we calculated basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share. Basic
earnings (loss) per share and basic weighted average shares are the starting point in calculating the
dilutive measures. To calculate basic earnings (loss) per share, divide our net loss for the period by our
weighted average shares outstanding, without adjusting for dilutive items. Diluted earnings (loss) per
share is calculated by dividing our net loss, after assumed conversion of dilutive securities, by our
weighted average shares outstanding, adjusted for the effect of dilutive securities . As a result of the net
losses in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, the potential issuances of
common stock for dilutive securities were considered anti-dilutive and therefore not included in the
calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share.
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Operating results from our discontinued operations are as follows :

Three Months
September

Ended
30,

Nine Months
September

Ended
30,

!n millions 2003 2002 2002 2003
Sales $ 75.1 $ 172.1 $235 .4 $474.9
Cost of sales 14.9 69 .2 47 .0 208.9
Gross profit 60 .2 102.9 188.4 266.0
Operating expenses:

Operating expense 33 .5 68.3 95 .4 157.1
Restructuring charges - (.2) - .2
Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets 47 .5 236.6 47.5 236.6
Depreciation and amortization expense .1 22.5 8.6 67.0

Total operating expenses 81 .1 327.2 151.5 460.9
Other income (expense) :
Equity in earnings of investments - 2.0 - 4.9
Other income (expense) (9 .2) 18.3 (5 .3) 45 .1

Earnings (loss) before interest and taxes (30.1) (204.0) 31 .6 (144 .9)
Interest expense 3.7 7.2 15 .0 17 .8
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (33.8) (211.2) 16 .6. (162 .7)
Income tax expense (benefit) (8 .1) (71.0) 5.1 (51.4)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations $(25 .7) S(140.2) $ 11 .5 $(111.3)

5. Earnings (Loss) per Common Share

!n millions, except per share amounts

Three Months
September

2003

Ended
30,
2002

Nine Months
September

2003

Ended
30,
2002

Loss from continuing operations $(144.2) $(191.4) $(313.9) $ (985 .9)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (25.7) (140 .2) 11 .5 (111 .3)
Net loss $(169.9) $(331.6) $(302.4) $(1,097.2)
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Loss from continuing operations $ (.74) $ (1.07) $ (1.61) $ (6.44)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued
operations (.13) (.78) .06 (.73)

Net loss $ (.87) $ (1.85) $ (1.55) $ (7.17)
Weighted average number of common shares used

in basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 195.1 179.6 194.6 153.1



*

	

Included in total assets as of September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002 are total current and
non-current assets of discontinued operations as follows: Wholesale Services, $20.1 million and
$19.3 million, Capacity Services, $153.8 million and $190.6 million and International Networks,
$1,097.7 million and $875.3 million, respectively.
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6. Reportable Seoment Reconciliation

Our reportable segment reconciliation is shown below.

Three Months
September

Ended
30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

In millions 2003 2002 2003 2002
Sales :
Domestic Networks $ 352.2 $ 401.5 $1,281.5 $ 1,391.7
International Networks - - - -

Total Global Networks Group 352.2 401.5 1,281.5 1,391.7
Capacity Services 20.7 139.6 (14.4) 285.4
Wholesale Services (50.9) (89.8) (54.9) 42.2

Total Merchant Services (30.2) 49.8 (69,3) 327.6
Total $ 322.0 $ 451.3 $1,212.2 $ 1,719.3

Earnings (Loss) Before Interest and Taxes (EBIT) :
Domestic Networks $ 44.5 $ 32.0 $ 125.1 $ (640.2)
International Networks 3.7 44.0 17.0 81.5

Total Global Networks Group 48.2 76.0 142.1 (558.7 )
Capacity Services (100.5) (53.4) (294.0) (27.3)
Wholesale Services (55.9) (236.2) (97.0) (405.8)

Total Merchant Services (156.4) (289 .6) (391.0) . (433.1)
Corporate and Other (11.5) (12.5) 16.2 (26.0)
Total EBIT (119.7) (226.1 (232.7) (1,017.8)
Interest expense 75.1 67.0 206,9 164.5
Loss from continuing operations before
income taxes $(194.8) $(293.1) $ (439.6) $(1,182.3)

September 30, December 31,
In millions 2003 2002 .
Assets:*

Domestic Networks $2,857.5 $2,666.5
International Networks 1,372.0 1,607.1

Total Global Networks Group 4,229 .5 4.273 .6
Capacity Services 1,015 .5 1,203.2
Wholesale Services 1,863.7 3,092.1

Total Merchant Services 2,879.2 4,295.3
Corporate and Other 557.6 690.3
Total assets $7,666.3 $9,259 .2



7- Financings
Revolving Credit Facility

In April 2002, we entered into a revolving credit facility totaling $650 .0 million. The credit facility
consisted of two $325.0 million credit agreements, one with a maturity of 364 days, and the other with
a maturity of three years. In April 2003, the 364-day credit facility was repaid in full and the unused
portion of the three-year credit facility was terminated. During the second quarter of 2003, we
terminated the remainder of the three-year facility and replaced the letters of credit issued under it
with new letters of credit issued under our letter of credit facility discussed below.

364-Day Secured Credit Facility

In April 2003, we closed on a $200.0 million, 364-day secured loan . The borrower was UtiliCorp
Australia, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary . At closing, we borrowed $100.0 million of the available
$200.0 million. The interest rate on this financing was initially the London Inter Bank Offering Rate
(LIBOR) (with a 3% floor) plus 4.0% for the first 90 days . After the first 90 days, the interest rate
increased an additional 2% and would increase an additional 2% every subsequent 90 days with a
maximum rate at maturity of LIBOR (with a 3% floor) plus 10%. We paid up-front arrangement fees
of $4.1 million in connection with this borrowing . Proceeds from this borrowing were used to retire
debt.

In May 2003, we exercised our option under the 364-day financing to borrow the remaining
$100.0 million available under the facility . The proceeds were used to terminate our Acadia Tolling
Agreement as discussed in Note 3. We paid additional arrangement fees of $4.1 million for this
borrowing. We retired $90.7 million of this borrowing in June 2003 with proceeds from the sale of our
interest in AlintaGas . The remaining balance of $109 .3 million was retired in July 2003 with proceeds
from the sale of our interests in United Energy and Multinet Gas.

Three-Year Secured Credit Facility

In April 2003, we closed on a $430.0 million, three-year secured loan . The initial interest rate on
the facility was LIBOR (which has a 3% floor) plus 5.75%. In addition, we were required to pay
up-front arrangement fees of $17.8 million. Proceeds from the financing were used to retire debt and
support letters of credit.

The three-year facility is secured by (i) $430.0 million of first mortgage bonds issued under a new
indenture that constitutes a lien on our existing and future Michigan, Nebraska and Colorado utility
network assets, (ii) a pledge of the equity of two wholly-owned subsidiaries that indirectly hold our
Canadian utility business, and (iii) a pledge of the equity of a wholly-owned subsidiary that indirectly
holds our interests in independent power plants. In October 2003, the Iowa Utility Board conditionally
approved our request to pledge Iowa utility network assets as collateral for the loan. We are in the
process of amending the agreement to include these assets as collateral. If we default on this loan, the
lenders would be entitled to be fully repaid from the sale proceeds of this collateral before other
creditors could assert their claims against the pledged assets .

We have also committed to use reasonable efforts to obtain approvals that would provide these
lenders additional domestic utility assets as collateral for their loans. If, as a result of the addition of
any such collateral, the value of the domestic regulated utility asset collateral securing the indenture
exceeds 167% of the loan secured by the indenture, the pledge of the Canadian and independent
power projects equity interest may be released and the interest rate would be reduced to LIBOR
(which has a 3% floor) plus 5.00% . In April 2003, we filed applications with the state regulatory bodies
in Kansas, Minnesota and Missouri requesting authority to pledge our utility assets located in their
respective states . In September 2003, the Staff of the Missouri Public Service Commission
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recommended that our request to pledge Missouri utility assets be denied. Hearings were held before
the Commission in October 2003 and a ruling is expected by the end of 2003 . However, there is no
statutory deadline for a decision in Missouri. In October 2003, the Minnesota Public Utility
Commission also voted to deny our request to pledge Minnesota utility assets . We are currently
evaluating whether we will seek a reconsideration of this decision or re-file the application to address
the concerns raised by the Minnesota Commission. We continue to work with the Kansas Corporation
Commission to obtain its approval for the additional collateral . A hearing is scheduled for
November 2003 .

After our Iowa utility assets have been formally pledged, we will request that our interest rate be
reduced as described above, and we will have pledged utility assets in Michigan, Nebraska, Iowa and
Colorado which would then fully collateralize the loan. Following the pledge of our Iowa utility assets,
we will not be required by the credit facility to maintain collateral for the loan beyond the utility assets
pledged. However, it is our intention that borrowings under the credit facility that are not needed to
support our utility operations be collateralized by non-utility assets .

The $430.0 million secured debt would become immediately due and payable if we do not
complete an exchange offer, tender offer, refinancing or other retirement transaction with regard to
80% of our $250.0 million, 7% senior note series due July 15, 2004 and our $150.0 million, 6.875%
senior note series due October 1, 2004, at least two weeks prior to their respective maturity dates.
Among other restrictions, the three-year secured facility contains the following financial covenants with
which we were in compliance as of September 30, 2003 :

(2) Beginning July 1, 2003, we must maintain a trailing 12-month ratio of earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) from pledged assets to interest expense
related to these assets of no less than 1.05 to 1.00, increasing to 2.0 to 1 .0 for quarters ending
after December 31, 2004 .

We must maintain a ratio of total debt to total capital of not more than .75 to 1.00 as of
September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2003, decreasing to .70 to 1.00 for quarters ending
after December 31, 2003 .

Beginning July 1, 2003, we must maintain a trailing 12-month ratio of debt outstanding on our
pledged assets to EBITDA from our pledged assets of no more than 10.5 to 1.0, . decreasing to
5.5 to 1.0 for quarters ending after June 30, 2004.

The three-year facility also contains covenants that restrict certain activities including, among
others, limitations on additional indebtedness, restrictions on acquisitions, sale transactions, and the
amount that we can fund our unregulated merchant businesses and our Everest Connections
communications business . In addition, we are prohibited from paying dividends and from making
certain other payments if our senior unsecured debt is not rated at least Bat by Moody's and BB by
Standard & Poor's, or if such a payment would cause a default under the facility.

Amounts under the three-year facility cannot be voluntarily prepaid except with payment of a
make-whole amount. Amounts that are repaid cannot be re-borrowed. To the extent we- default on any
of our loan covenants, our interest rate will increase an additional 2% during the default period .

Letter of Credit Facility

In April 2003, we executed a 364-day Letter of Credit Agreement with a commercial bank. Under
terms of the Agreement, the bank committed to initially issue letters of credit under the facility subject
to a limit of $200.0 million outstanding at any one time . All letters of credit issued are fully secured by
cash deposits with the bank. The committed amount automatically decreased to $175 .0 million at
June 30, 2003 and will decrease further to $150.0 million at December 31, 2003 . At September 30,
2003, $65.3 million of letters of credit were outstanding under this facility .
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Canadian Subsidiaries

On July 31, 2003, we closed on a $215.0 million, 364-day unsecured loan. The borrowers are
Aquila Networks Canada Corp . (ANCC) and Aquila Networks Canada (Alberta) Ltd. (ANCA), each of
which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary. At closing, ANCC borrowed $115.0 million and ANCA
borrowed $100.0 million. The interest rate on this financing is LIBOR (with 2.50% floor) plus 4.25% .
Proceeds were used by ANCA to repay and terminate its existing 364-day credit agreement that
matured on July 31, 2003, and a letter of credit facility. ANCC will use its proceeds to finance the
capital expenditure and working capital requirements of its regulated utility subsidiaries, as well as
repay certain bank debt of Aquila Networks Canada (British Columbia) Ltd (ANCBC). The facilities
will be repaid with the proceeds received in connection with the sale of our Canadian utility businesses .
We paid up-front arrangement fees of $4.3 million in connection with this borrowing.

Aquila has fully and unconditionally guaranteed $200.0 million of 7.75% senior notes issued in the
U.S . debt market by our wholly-owned Canadian finance subsidiary, Aquila Networks Canada Finance
Corporation in June 2001 . Aquila Networks Canada Finance Corporation has since been merged into
its direct parent corporation, UtiliCorp Canada Ventures LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

8.

	

Restatement of Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

As stated in previous filings, between 1997 and 2000, we entered into long-term gas contracts that
require us to deliver natural gas to municipal utility customers over periods of 10 to 12 years. In
exchange for our commitment to deliver the natural gas, we were paid in advance. We considered these
contracts part of our energy trading operations . As such, both the receipt of the advance cash payments
and the monthly cash outflows to purchase the gas to be delivered to the customers in satisfaction of
our commitments historically were included in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows under the
caption Net Changes in Price Risk Management Assets and Liabilities and included in Cash Flows
From Operating Activities . These contracts were included under the caption Price Risk Management
Liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets prior to December 31, 2002, but are now separately
disclosed as Long-term Gas Contracts for all periods presented.

In 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF), in its deliberations regarding EITF No. 02-3,
discussed a number of items related to energy trading and risk management activities . In order to more
fully address certain of the items discussed, the EITF formed a working group. One of the items
discussed by the working group was "prepaid gas contracts." These discussions included the cash flow
presentation of contracts similar to our long-term gas contracts. Based on this discussion, and other
accounting and industry discussions and guidance occurring in 2002, we believe that the current
industry and accounting consensus is to report these contracts as financing activities in the statement of
cash flows. As a result, we have reported these cash flows in accordance with the current accounting
interpretations and guidance for all periods presented in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
This resulted in a $58.5 million increase in Cash Flows From Operating Activities for the nine months
ended September 30, 2002, as compared to the amount previously reported. Cash Flows From
Financing Activities changed by the corresponding amount, resulting in no change in total cash flow.
This change had no impact on earnings or losses.



MEP Pleasant Hill, LLC, our 50 percent-owned joint venture that owns and operates the Aries
Power Project in Pleasant Hill, Missouri, did not refinance or repay $270.0 million of construction loans
prior to their June 26, 2003 maturity . In response to the default, the lenders have drawn on
$75 .0 million of letters of credit that we and our partner equally pledged to support the loans, reducing
the loan balances to $195.0 million. Although the project is current on its interest payments and other
operating expenses, the loans remain in default, The loans are non-recourse to us and the default has
no direct impact on our other credit arrangements or utility operations . We are currently working with
our partner and lenders to cure the default . As of September 30, 2003, our investment balance in the
Aries Power Project was $44.4 million .

10. Legal and Environmental Matters
In February 2002, we filed a suit against Chubb Insurance Group, the issuer of surety bonds in

support of certain of our longterm gas supply contracts . Previously, Chubb had demanded that it be
released from its surety obligation of up to $523.8 million or, alternatively, that we post collateral to
secure its obligation . We do not believe that Chubb is entitled to be released from its surety obligations
or that we are obligated to post collateral to secure its obligations unless it is likely we will default on
the contracts . Chubb has not alleged that we are likely to default on the contracts . If Chubb were to
prevail, it would have a material adverse impact on our liquidity and financial position . We rely on
other sureties in support of long-term gas supply contracts similar to those described above. There can
be no assurance that these sureties will not make claims similar to those raised by Chubb. We have
performed under these contracts since their inception and intend to continue to fully perform under
these contracts .

A consolidated lawsuit was filed against us in federal court in Missouri in connection with our
recombination with our Aquila Merchant subsidiary that occurred pursuant to an exchange offer
completed in January 2002 . The suit raised allegations concerning the lack of independent members on
the board of directors of Aquila Merchant to negotiate the terms of the exchange offer on behalf of
the public shareholders of Aquila Merchant. Persons holding certificates formerly representing
approximately 1.8 million shares of Aquila Merchant common stock are also pursuing their appraisal
rights in connection with the recombination. The dissenters' rights action is scheduled for trial in
May 2004. We do not believe that either of these actions will have an outcome materially adverse to us.

A number of companies that have engaged in energy trading activities, including us, have received
requests from various regulatory agencies to furnish data and answer questions relating to the possible
inaccurate reporting of gas trade information to various industry publications in 2000 and 2001 . In
response to such .inquiries, we initiated a review of our reported information relative to recorded data
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The net effects of the change discussed above are shown in the following table:

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2002
As

Previously
In millions Reported As Restated
Cash used for operating activities $(166.2) $(107.7)
Cash used for investing activities (494.4) (494.4)
Cash provided from financing activities 912.6 854.1
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 252.0 $ 252.0

9. Aries Power Project



and are fully cooperating with these investigations . Additionally, we have reported to the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) that we have
been unable to reconcile all of the gas trade data reported to various trade publications with the gas
trade data in our internal records and that our former traders may have reported inaccurate
information . We are continuing to work with the CFTC on this matter.

A lawsuit was filed. against us and numerous other energy trading companies in November 2002 by
the Lieutenant Governor of the State of California alleging that we misreported gas trade data that, in
turn, affected the market price of electricity in California. Our motion to be dismissed from the lawsuit
was granted by the court on July 11, 2003 .

The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has been conducting enforcement initiatives
nationwide, and recently has inquired at several coal-fired power plants operated by other companies in
our region . These investigations are being made to determine whether modifications at those facilities
were subject to New Source Review requirements (NSR) under the Clean Air Act. The EPA contends
that power plants are required to update emission controls at the time of major maintenance or capital
activity, and it has initiated civil enforcement actions in some cases . The EPA has not requested any
information from our company in that regard, nor has it indicated that it intends to do so. We believe
that the maintenance and capital activities performed at our power plants are routine and not subject
to NSR. It is possible, if the EPA does pursue such action with us, that our additional investment to
comply could be material . We would expect to obtain recovery of such costs through rates.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
AQUILA, INC.

	

.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Except where noted, the following discussion refers to the consolidated entity, Aquila, Inc. During the
periods covered by this report, our businesses were structured as follows : (a) Global Networks Group,
consisting of two segments, (i) Domestic Networks, our electric and gas utilities in seven mid-continent
states, which also includes our communications business and our former investment in Quanta
Services, Inc. (sold in late 2002 and early 2003), and (ii) International Networks, our investments in
Australian electric and gas utilities (sold in the second and third quarters of 2003), our United Kingdom
investment in an electric utility business (in the process of being sold), our investment in New Zealand
electric and gas utility businesses (sold in the fourth quarter of 2002) and our Canadian electric utility
businesses (which are in the process ofbeing sold and are classifed as discontinued operations for all
periods presented); and (b) Merchant Services, consisting oftwo segments, (i) Capacity Services, ourpower
generation operations, our investments in independent power plants (in the process of being sold; two
consolidated plants, Lake Cogen and Onondaga, have been classified as discontinued operations for all
periods presented), our natural gas gathering and processing operations (sold in 2002 and classified as
discontinued operations for all periods presented), and (ii) Wholesale Services, our North American and
European commodity and client service businesses (including our capital business which was also sold in
2002 and is classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented) .

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION AND RISK FACTORS
This report contains forward-looking information, including statements that (i) we expect our

utility rates to be increased in certain states where we have utility operations, and (ii) our long-term
liquidity depends upon the sale of assets, return of collateral posted, restructuring of generation
capacity obligations, the ability to refinance or retire maturing obligations such as long-term gas
contracts and the ability to use regulated assets as collateral for debt . The words "may," "will,"
"should," "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "plan," "believe," "seek," "estimate," or the negative of
these terms or similar expressions identify further forward-looking statements . Similar statements that
identify our objectives, plans and goals are forward-looking statements .

These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, and there are certain important
factors that can cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated. Some of the important
factors and risks that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated include:

" Failure to close pending asset sales would have a material adverse impact on our long-term
liquidity .

" Proceeds from future asset sales could be lower than book value which would generate
additional losses and may not adequately reduce our debt to levels where our operations are
able to generate sufficient cash flows to service our remaining debt.

" Regulatory commissions may refuse to approve some or all of the utility rate increases we have
requested.

" Counterparties may default on their obligations to pay, supply commodities, return collateral to
us or to meet their obligations under commercial contracts, including those designed to hedge
against movements in commodity prices .

" Our credit ratings and financial condition will limit our ability to access the capital markets we
historically used to refinance our debt . Because we recently pledged a significant portion of our
assets as collateral for loans, it will be difficult for us to obtain additional financing. We must
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obtain regulatory approvals to use the majority of our remaining unencumbered assets as
collateral for additional loans, as well as issue additional debt .
If our financial condition improves, market prices for our long-term debt may increase and limit
our ability to repurchase it . Our new credit agreements may require us to use a portion of the
proceeds from the sale of our assets to reduce our obligations to those lenders before retiring
other debt.
Our commitments under long-term gas delivery contracts and capacity generation contracts will
generate significant losses and negative cash flows for an extended period of time . Because these
obligations represent favorable contracts to the counterparties, absent a risk of our default, they
may be unwilling to restructure or sell the contracts .
There are numerous ongoing state and federal investigations of the trading activities of
companies that participated in the energy trading industry, including us, as well as an internal
investigation in connection with allegations contained in an anonymous letter . Companies that
have violated laws or rules of the investigating agencies have been required to pay significant
amounts to settle these investigations . Even if no wrongdoing is found, we will incur legal and
forensic accounting costs associated with complying with the discovery requests of the
investigating bodies .



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Financial Review

This review of performance is organized by business segment, reflecting the way we managed our
business during the periods covered by this report . Each business group leader is responsible for
operating results down to earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) . We use EBIT as a performance
measure as it captures the income and expenses within the management control of our segment
business leaders. Corporate management is responsible for making all financing decisions. Therefore,
each segment discussion focuses on the factors affecting EBIT, while interest expense and income taxes
are separately discussed at the corporate level.

The use of EBIT as a performance measure is not meant to be considered an alternative to net
income or cash flows from operating activities, which are determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), as an indicator of operating performance or as a measure of
liquidity, or other performance measures used under GAAE In addition, the term may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.

Three Months
September

Ended
30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

In millions 2003 2002 2003 2002
Earnings (Loss) Before Interest and Taxes:
Domestic Networks $ 44.5 $ 32.0 $ 125.1 $ (640.2)
International Networks 3.7 44.0 17.0 81 .5

Total Global Networks Group 48.2 76.0 142.1 (558.7)
Capacity Services (100.5) (53.4) (294.0) (27.3)
Wholesale Services (55.9) (236 .2) (97.0) (405.8)

Total Merchant Services (156.4) (289 .6) (391 .0) (433 .1)
Corporate and Other (11.5) (12.5) 16.2 (26.0)
Tbtal EBIT (119.7) (226.1) (232 .7) (1,017.8)
Interest expense 75.1 67.0 206.9 164.5
Income tax benefit (50.6) (101.7) (125 .7) (196.4)
Loss from continuing operations (144.2) (191.4) (313.9) (985 .9)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations,

net of tax (25.7) (140.2) 11.5 (111 .3)
Net loss $(169 .9) $(331.6) $(302.4) $(1,097.2)



DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As further discussed in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we have reported the
results of operations of the following assets in discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements
of Income: (1) our Texas natural gas storage facility, our Texas and Mid-Continent natural gas pipeline
systems, including our natural gas and natural gas liquids processing assets and our ownership interest
in the Oasis Pipe Line Company, our coal terminal and handling facility and our Merchant loan
portfolio that were all sold in 2002 and early 2003, and (2) our Canadian network businesses and our
consolidated independent power plants, Lake Cogen and Onondaga, that we are in the process of
selling . The unaudited operating results of our operations that are considered discontinued operations
for accounting purposes are as follows :

Three Months
September

Ended
30,

Nine Months
September

Ended
30,

In millions 2003 2002 2003 2002

Sales $ 75.1 $ 172 .1 $235.4 $ 474 .9
Cost of sales 14.9 69.2 47.0 208 .9
Gross profit 60.2 102.9 188 .4 266.0
Operating expenses :
Operating expense 33.5 68.3 95.4 157.1
Restructuring charges - (.2) - .2
Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets 47.5 236.6 47.5 236 .6
Depreciation and amortization expense .1 22.5 8.6 67.0

lbtal operating expenses 81.1 327 .2 151 .5 460 .9
Other income (expense) :

Equity in earnings of investments - 2.0 - 4.9
Other income (expense) (9.2) 18.3 (5 .3) 45.1

Earnings (loss) before interest and taxes (30.1) (204.0) 31.6 (144.9)
Interest expense 3.7 7.2 15.0 17.8
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (33.8) (2112) 16.6 (162.7)
Income tax expense (benefit) (8 .1) (71.0) 5 .1 (51.4)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations $(25.7) $(140.2) $ 11 .5 $(111.3)



Quarter-to-Quarter

Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales, cost of sales and gross profit decreased $97.0 million, $54.3 million and $42.7 million,

respectively, in 2003 compared to 2002 . These decreases were primarily due to the sale of our gas
gathering and pipeline assets and our coal handling facility in the fourth quarter of 2002 . In addition,
sales, cost of sales and gross profit for Lake Cogen and Onondaga were lower in 2003 by $21.8 million,
$4.7 million and $17.1 million, respectively, due to mark-to-market losses on long-term gas and power
swaps resulting from lower natural gas and power prices and lower volumes delivered in the third
quarter of 2003 compared to 2002.

Operating Expense

Operating expense decreased $34.8 million in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily due to the sale of
our gas gathering and pipeline assets, our Merchant loan portfolio and our coal handling facility in the
fourth quarter of 2002 .

Impairment Charges and Net Loss on Sale of Assets
Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets consisted of $47.5 million related to our

consolidated independent power plants, Lake Cogen and Onondaga. In the third quarter of 2003, we
decided to proceed with the sale of these assets and therefore wrote these assets down to estimated fair
value less costs to sell, which was less than their carrying value. Impairment charges in 2002 consisted
of a $236.6 million loss on the sale of our gas gathering and pipeline assets .

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $22.4 million in 2003 compared to 2002 . The

elimination of depreciation from our Canadian utility plant was due to its classification as held for sale
in accordance with SFAS 144, which decreased depreciation expense $14.5 million . SFAS 144 requires
that depreciation expense no longer be recorded for those assets classified for accounting purposes as
held for sale. In addition, approximately $7.9 million of the decrease was due to the sale of our gas
gathering and pipeline assets and our coal handling facility in the fourth quarter of 2002.

Other Income

Other income decreased $27.5 million in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily due to the sale of our
Merchant loan portfolio in the fourth quarter of 2002 . This business generated $13.4 million of other
income in the third quarter of 2002. In 2003, we incurred $6.8 million of costs related to a currency put
option intended to protect us from unfavorable currency movements on the Canada sale proceeds and
$2.2 million of foreign currency losses related to U.S . dollar denominated debt issued by our Canadian
subsidiaries.

Interest Expense
Interest expense decreased $3.5 million in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily due to the retirement

of $85.3 million of Canadian bank borrowings in April 2003 .

Income Tax Benefit
The income tax benefit for 2003 decreased $62.9 million from 2002 primarily due to lower pretax

losses in 2003 .
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Year-to-Date

Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales, cost of sales and gross profit decreased $239.5 million, $161.9 million and $77.6 million,

respectively, in 2003 compared to 2002 . These decreases were primarily due to the sale of our gas
gathering and pipeline assets and our coal handling facility in the fourth quarter of 2002 . In addition,
sales and gross profit for our Canadian network operations decreased $30,0 million and $27.0 million,
respectively, due to the decision by the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board (AEUB) to decrease our
2002 and 2003 customer billing rates. Offsetting these decreases were sales and gross profit for Lake
Cogen and Onondaga that were higher in 2003 by $12.7 million and $14.3 million, respectively, due to
mark-to-market gains on long-term gas and power swaps resulting from higher natural gas and power
prices in the first half of 2003, partially offset by lower volumes delivered .

Operating Expense

Operating expense decreased $61 .7 million in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily due to the sale of
our gas gathering and pipeline assets, our Merchant loan portfolio and our coal handling facility in
2002 and early 2003 .

Impairment Charges and Net Loss on Sale of Assets

Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets consisted of $47.5 million related to our
consolidated independent power plants, Lake Cogen and Onondaga. In the third quarter of 2003, we
decided to proceed with the sale of these assets and therefore wrote these assets down to estimated fair
value less costs to sell, which was less than their carrying value. Impairment charges in 2002 consisted
of a $236.6 million loss on the sale of our gas gathering and pipeline assets .

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $58.4 million in 2003 compared to 2002 . The

elimination of depreciation from our Canadian utility plant was due to its classification as held for sale
which decreased depreciation expense $14.5 million as discussed above. In addition, approximately
$23.2 million of the decrease was due to the sale of our gas gathering and pipeline assets and our coal
handling facility in the fourth quarter of 2002. The remaining decrease was primarily due to the
decision by the AEUB to reduce the depreciation rates on most of our distribution assets in Alberta,
which impacted the first six months of 2003 .

Equity in Earnings of Investments
Equity in earnings of investments decreased $4.9 million due to the sale of our investment in the

Oasis Pipe Line Company in the fourth quarter of 2002.

Other Income
Other income decreased $50.4 million in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily due to the sale of our

Merchant loan portfolio in the fourth quarter of 2002 . This business generated $37.1 million of other
income in 2002 . In 2003, we incurred $6.8 million of costs related to a currency put option intended to
protect us from unfavorable currency movements on the Canada sale proceeds and $2.2 million of
foreign currency losses related to U.S . dollar denominated debt issued by our Canadian subsidiaries .



Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit) decreased $56.5 million primarily due to pretax income in 2003

compared to a pretax loss in 2002 and the AEUB decision discussed above. This decision decreased
sales and depreciation; however, only the sales impact is tax effected for Canadian regulatory purposes .

Sales and cost of sales for the Domestic Networks businesses decreased $49.3 million and
$52.4 million, respectively, and gross profit increased $3.1 million in 2003 compared to 2002. These
changes were primarily due to the following factors:

Sales and cost of sales for our regulated gas utilities increased $21.1 million and $14.6 million,
respectively, for a net increase in gross profit of $6.5 million. Sales and cost of sales increased
due to a 34% increase in natural gas prices. However, because gas purchase costs for our gas
utility operations are passed through to our customers, the change in gas prices does not have a
corresponding impact on gross profit . The increase in gross profit for our regulated gas utilities
resulted primarily from rate increases in Michigan and Iowa of $1.3 million, $3.6 million of
excess pipeline capacity sales and customer growth.
Regulated electric utility sales and cost of sales increased $15.3 million and $14.2 million,
respectively, in 2003 compared to 2002, for a gross profit increase of $1.1 million. Sales and
gross profit increased $5 .5 million due to a rate increase in Colorado effective in July 2003,
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DOMESTIC NETWORKS
The table below summarizes the operations of our Domestic Networks.

Dollars in millions

Three Months
September

2003

Ended
30,

2002

Nine Months
September

2003

Ended
30,

2002
Sales $ 352.2 $ 401.5 $1,281 .5 $1,391 .7
Cost of sales 174.5 226.9 754.2 865.5
Gross profit 177.7 174.6 527.3 526.2
Operating expenses :

Operating expense 101.0 99.2 305.3 331.2
Restructuring charges - - 2.1 19.9
Impairment charges and net loss (gain) on sale

of assets - 5.2 (2 .2) 721.2
Depreciation and amortization expense 32 .0 36 .8 97.1 106.5

Tbtal operating expenses 133.0 141.2 402.3 1,178.8
Other income (expense):

Equity in earnings (loss) of investments - (2.8) - 1.7
Minority interest in income of subsidiaries - 2.4 - 6.6
Other income (expense) (.2) (1 .0) .1 4.1

Earnings (loss) before interest and taxes $ 44.5 $ 32.0 $ 125.1 $ (640.2)

Electric sales and transportation volumes (GWh) 3,426.7 3,622.4 8,933.8 9,593.0
Gas sales and transportation volumes (Bcf) 34 .4 38 .0 165.9 166.5
Electric customers at end of period 445,000 437,000
Gas customers at end of period 879,000 870,000

Quarter-to-Quarter
Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit



$6.0 million of additional margin from favorable weather and $1.6 million from customer growth.
These increases were partially offset by a net $5.0 million decrease in margin from off-system
sales and $7.2 million of increased cost of sales due to the higher cost of natural gas used to fuel
our power plants .

" Non-regulated gas sales, cost of sales and gross profit decreased $88.2 million, $81.1 million and
$7.1 million, respectively, in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily as the result of the sale of our
non-regulated retail gas operations on September 30, 2002 .

Impairment Charges and Net Loss (Gain) on Sale of Assets
As further discussed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Domestic Networks

incurred $5.2 million of losses in 2002 related to the sale of part of our investment in Quanta Services.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $4.8 million in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily

due to the reduced depreciable base at Everest Connections resulting from the impairment charge
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002 .

Year-to-Date

Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales and cost of sales for the Domestic Networks businesses decreased $110.2 million and

$111.3 million, respectively, and gross profit increased $1.1 million in 2003 compared to 2002 . These
changes were primarily due to the following factors:

" Sales and cost of sales for our regulated gas utilities increased $169.8 million and $146.9 million,
respectively, for a net increase in gross profit of $22.9 million . Sales and cost of sales increased
due to a 38% increase in natural gas prices . However, because gas purchase costs for our gas
utility operations are passed through to our customers, the change in gas prices did not have a
corresponding impact on gross profit . Gross profit for our regulated gas utilities increased
primarily due to $9.7 million of rate increases in Michigan and Iowa, $3.6 million of excess
pipeline capacity sales and $4.3 million from colder than normal weather in the first quarter of
2003 .
Regulated electric utility sales and cost of sales increased $18 .7 million and $24.7 million,
respectively, in 2003 compared to 2002, while gross profit decreased $6.0 million. Sales and gross
profit increased by $5.5 million due to a rate increase in Colorado effective in July 2003,
$3.0 million of additional margin from favorable weather and from customer growth . These
increases were partially offset by a net $8.0 million decrease in margin from off-system sales and
$5.3 million of increased cost of sales due to the higher cost of natural gas used to fuel our
power plants .
Non-regulated gas sales, cost of sales and gross profit decreased $305.6 million, $282.3 million
and $23.3 million, respectively, in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily as the result of the sale of
our non-regulated retail gas operations on September 30, 2002.

Other non-regulated sales and gross profit were higher by $6.9 million and $7.5 million,
respectively, in 2003 primarily due to an increase in customers at Everest Connections.

Operating Expense

Operating expense decreased $25.9 million in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily due to lower
labor, benefits and administrative expenses resulting from our restructuring in 2002 .
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Restructuring Charges
Restructuring charges decreased $17.8 million in 2003 compared to 2002. In the first half of 2003,

we completed the restructuring of the operations of Everest Connections resulting in the termination of
approximately 160 employees and $2.1 million of severance costs.

We restructured our domestic utility business in the second quarter of 2002 to more closely align it
with our state service areas. In connection with this restructuring, we incurred $19.9 million in costs,
primarily for severance for terminated employees and the disposition of our corporate aircraft
operation.

Impairment Charges and Net (Gain) Loss on Sale of Assets
As further discussed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Domestic Networks

incurred $721.2 million of losses resulting from impairments in 2002. The impairments consisted of
$698.1 million and $23.1 million related to our investments in Quanta Services and other
communication technology investments, respectively.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $9.4 million in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily

due to the reduced depreciable base at Everest Connections resulting from the impairment charge
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002 .

Minority Interest in Income of Subsidiaries
Minority interest in income of subsidiaries decreased $6.6 million in 2003 compared to 2002 due to

the reduction of Everest Connections' minority capital balances to zero in October 2002 . Therefore, we
have recorded all of Everest Connections' losses in 2003.

A settlement was reached with the intervenors in the Minnesota rate case for $5.7 million. The
settlement was approved by the Commission in July 2003 . This rate increase has been collected on an
interim basis since November 2001 .

In June 2002, we filed for a $9.3 million general rate increase in Iowa. We received approval to
place an interim increase of $5.6 million into effect, subject to refund. In February 2003, a settlement
was approved by the Commission for an increase of $4.3 million .

In August 2002, we filed for a $14.3 million general rate increase in Michigan. We received
approval to place an interim increase of $8.2 million into effect as of December 2002 . We reached a
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Regulatory Matters
The following is a summary of our recent rate case activity:

Type of Date Date Amount Amount
In millions Service Requested Approved Requested Approved
Minnesota Gas 8/2000 7/2003 $ 9.8 $ 5.7
Iowa Gas 612002 212003 9.3 4.3
Michigan Gas 8/2002 3/2003 14 .3 8.4
Colorado Electric 1012002 612003 23 .4 16.0
Nebraska Gas 6/2003 Pending 9.9 Pending
Missouri Electric 7/2003 Pending 80.9 Pending
Missouri Gas 8/2003 Pending 6.4 Pending

2003 Regulatory Activity



settlement with the Commission staff and other intervening parties for an increase of $9.1 million. This
settlement was approved by the Commission in March 2003 and the new rates were effective in second
quarter 2003 . This increase was partially offset by a separate depreciation case whereby our annual
rates were reduced by $.7 million. This decrease relates to our depreciation rates, which have little
impact on earnings, but reduces cash flow.

In October 2002, we filed for a $23.4 million increase in our Colorado electric rates. In April 2003,
we reached a settlement with the Commission staff and other intervening parties for an increase of
$16.0 million. This settlement was approved in June 2003 by the Commission and new rates were
effective beginning in July 2003 .

In June 2003, we filed for a total of $9.9 million of gas rate increases in three rate areas of
Nebraska . We received approval to place an interim rate increase of $9.9 million into effect beginning
in October 2003 . Hearings will be held in December 2003 regarding each request and decisions
rendered in February 2004,

In July 2003, we filed for rate increases totaling $80.9 million for our electric territories in
Missouri . These applications were to recover increased costs of natural gas used to fuel our power
plants, necessary capital expenditures since our prior rate case, increased pension costs and decreased
off-system sales. Hearings are scheduled to be held in February and March 2004.

In August 2003, we filed for a rate increase totaling $6.4 million for our gas territories in Missouri .
These increases are needed primarily to recover the cost of system improvements and higher operating
costs . Hearings are scheduled to be held in March and April 2004 .

INTERNATIONAL NETWORKS
The operating results for out Canadian networks have been reclassified as discontinued operations

for all periods presented. The table below summarizes our remaining operations in International
Networks, including our equity method investments in Australia (sold in the second and third quarters
of 2003), New Zealand (sold in the fourth quarter of 2002) and the United Kingdom (in the process of
being sold) .

Impairment charges and net loss (gain) on sale of assets for 2003 included a $1.0 million pretax
gain on the sale of our interests in United Energy and Multinet Gas in Australia, offset by a
$4.0 million impairment charge related to our investment in Midlands (our United Kingdom electric
network) resulting from the new sale agreement with Powergen . The gain in 2002 reflected United
Energy's sale of its interest in its retail energy businesses and utility back-office business.
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Three Months
September

Ended
30,

Nine Months
September

Ended
30,

In millions 2003 2002 2003 2002
Operating expenses :
Operating expense $3.3 $ 2.6 $10.0 $ 7.1
Impairment charges and net loss (gain) on sale of assets 3.0 (3 .0) 5.6 (3 .0)

Total operating expenses 6.3 (.4) 15 .6 4.1
Other income (expense):

Equity in eamings of investments 1.9 42.6 16 .0 83 .0
Other income 8.1 1.0 16 .6 2.6

Earnings before interest and taxes $3.7 $44.0 $17.0 $81.5

Quarter-to-Quarter
Impairment Charges and Net Loss (Gain) on Sale of Assets



Equity in Earnings of Investments
Equity in earnings of investments decreased $40.7 million in 2003 compared to 2002. This decrease

was primarily due to the October 2002 sale of our interest in UnitedNetworks Limited in New Zealand,
which contributed equity earnings of $12.8 million in the third quarter of 2002, and the recent sale of
our Australian investments which contributed equity earnings of $13.0 million in the third quarter of
2002 compared to $1.9 million in 2003 .

Our share of undistributed net earnings from Midlands was $5.1 million in the third quarter of
2003, however, as we stated in our 2002 Form 10-K, we did not recognize the equity earnings from this
investment due to regulatory limitations on cash payments by Midlands to its owners . We record equity
earnings and management fees from this investment only to the extent cash is received. In the third
quarter of 2002, we recorded equity earnings of $16.8 million from our Midlands' investment .

Other Income
Other income increased $7.1 million in 2003 compared to 2002 . This increase was primarily due to

$9.3 million of second quarter 2003 costs related to a currency put option intended to protect us from
unfavorable currency movements on the Australian sale proceeds. These currency put option costs were
reclassified to Impairment Charges and Net Loss on Sale of Assets in the third quarter of 2003.

Year-to-Date
Impairment Charges and Net Loss (Gain) on Sale of Assets

Impairment charges and net loss (gain) on sale of assets for 2003 included a $1.6 million pretax
loss on the sale of our interests in AlintaGas, United Energy and Multinet Gas in Australia and a
$4.0 million impairment charge related to our investment in Midlands resulting from the new sale
agreement with Powergen . The gain in 2002 reflected United Energy's sale of its interest in its retail
energy businesses and utility back-office business .

Equity in Earnings of Investments
Equity in earnings of investments decreased $67.0 million in 2003 compared to 2002 . This decrease

was primarily due to the October 2002 sale of our interest in UnitedNetworks Limited in New Zealand,
which contributed equity earnings of $30.6 million in the first nine months of 2002, and the recent sale
of our Australian investments which contributed $27.2 million of equity earnings in 2002 compared to
$16.0 million in 2003 .

We recorded no equity earnings from our investment in Midlands in 2003 for the reasons discussed
above. Our share of undistributed net earnings from Midlands was $38 .8 million in 2003 . During 2002,
we recorded equity earnings of $25.2 million related to our Midlands' investment .

Other Income
Other income increased $14.0 million in 2003 compared to 2002 . This increase was primarily due

to $12.1 million of foreign currency gains recognized in the second quarter of 2003 due to the
strengthening of the Canadian dollar on U.S . dollar obligations.



Current Operating Developments

Australia.

	

In April 2003, we reached an agreement to sell our interests in Multinet Gas, United
Energy Limited and AlintaGas Limited to a consortium consisting ofAlintaGas, AMP Henderson and
their affiliates. In May 2003, as the first step in the sale process, we sold our interest in AlintaGas. We
received approximately $97.0 million in cash proceeds in May and July before transaction costs and
taxes from this sale . In June, we retired $90.7 million of our $200.0 million, 364-day secured credit
facility with these proceeds . We recorded a pretax loss of $2.6 million, or $1.6 million after tax, in the
second quarter of 2003 in connection with this sale .

In July 2003, we completed the sale of our interests in United Energy and Multinet Gas and
received cash proceeds of $525.0 million before transaction costs and taxes . Approximately
$109.3 million of these proceeds were used in July to retire the remaining balance outstanding under
the 364-day secured credit facility . We recorded a pretax gain of $1.0 million, or $ .5 million after tax, in
connection with this sale .

Midlands.

	

In September 2003, we agreed to terminate the agreement to sell our 79.9% interest in
Aquila Sterling Limited (ASL), the owner of Midlands Electricity plc, to a subsidiary of Scottish and
Southern Energy plc. The sale was subject to a number of conditions including the successful
redemption of the outstanding bonds issued by Avon Energy Partners Holdings (AEPH), an Aquila
Sterling subsidiary, at 86% of their par value plus accrued interest . The efforts to meet this bond
redemption condition were unsuccessful and therefore, all parties agreed to terminate the agreement.

In October 2003, we and FirstEnergy Corp. reached a definitive agreement to sell 100% of the
ASL shares outstanding to a subsidiary of Powergen UK plc (Powergen) for approximately
$60.0 million. Our share of the proceeds is expected to be approximately $52.0 million before
transaction costs. As a result of this agreement and our continuing analysis of fair value surrounding
this investment, we recorded an additional $4.0 million pretax and after-tax impairment charge to write
this investment down to its estimated fair value less costs to sell.

Powergen's obligation to acquire ASL is conditioned upon a commitment of the holders of the
outstanding bonds of AEPH to sell their bonds to an affiliate of Powergen for 95.8% of their nominal
value (less fees) plus accrued interest to the date of completion. The sale is also subject to approval
from the European Commission and Kansas Corporation Commission, as well as other customary
closing conditions. We expect- this sale to close in the first quarter of 2004.

Canadd.

	

In September 2003, we reached an agreement to sell our Canadian utility businesses for
approximately $992 million. The transaction is subject to approval of the regulatory commissions in
Alberta and British Columbia, among other regulatory bodies, as well as other customary closing
conditions, and is expected to close in the first half of 2004 . If the sale does not close by June 30, 2004,
the sale agreement will automatically terminate . We expect to record a gain on this sale at the date of
close. The results of operations and related assets and liabilities of our Canadian utility business are
included in discontinued operations .



Operating Expense
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Sales and cost of sales for our Capacity Services operations decreased approximately $118.9 million
and $158.8 million, respectively, in 2003 compared to 2002, resulting in an increase in gross profit of
$39.9 million. These changes were primarily due to the following factors:

Sales and cost of sales were approximately $188.7 million and $148.0 million lower, respectively,
as higher natural gas prices used for fuel in our merchant power plants and lack of profitable
contracted sales agreements made it uneconomical to operate the plants in the third quarter of
2003 compared to the third quarter of 2002 .

In 2002 we generated $55.2 million of mark-to-market losses as forward prices moved against
our open positions. In 2003, we recorded $14.6 million of mark-to-market gains related to
favorable gas hedges and a long-term power supply transaction. This transaction, which expires
in 2009, provides power at predetermined prices and matches the demand requirements of the
customer .
In connection with our merchant power plants, we make fixed capacity payments evenly
throughout the year that entitle us to generate power at power plants owned by others . For the
third quarter of 2003, capacity payments decreased by $10.7 million compared to 2002 as we
terminated our Acadia tolling agreement in the second quarter of 2003, resulting in a decrease
in cost of sales.

Operating expense increased $7.6 million primarily due to higher insurance, legal and other costs
related to the continuing wind-down of these operations in 2003 .

CAPACITY SERVICES
The table below summarizes the operations of our Capacity Services businesses .

In millions

Three Months
September

2003

Ended
30,
2002

Nine Months
September

2003

Ended
30,
2002

Sales $ 20.7 $139.6 $ (14.4) $285 .4
Cost of sales 18.8 177.6 71.9 286.3
Gross profit (loss) 1.9 (38.0) (86.3) (.9)
Operating expenses:

Operating expense 6.4 (1 .2) 16.7 29.0
Restructuring charges - (.6) 23.1 -
Impairment charges and net loss on sale of

assets 87.9 35.5 189.3 35 .5
Depreciation and amortization expense 6.2 1.9 25.3 5.8

Total operating expenses 100.5 35.6 253.4 70.3
Other income (expense) :

Equity in earnings (losses) of investments (2.0) 20.2 44.9 43.5
Other income .1 - .8 .4

Loss before interest and taxes $(100.5) $(53.4) $(294.0) $(27.3)

Quarter-to-Quarter
Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit



Impairment Charges and Net Loss on Sale of Assets
Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets in 2003 consists of $87.9 million related to our

equity method investments in independent power plants . In the third quarter of 2003, we decided to
sell our interest in these plants and therefore wrote our investments down to estimated fair value less
costs to sell, which was less than their carrying value.

Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets in 2002 primarily consisted of $21.9 million
related to our exit from the Lodi Gas Storage investment and $12.2 million related to fees and
expenses associated with the termination of the Cogentrix acquisition.

Equity in Earnings of Investments
Equity in earnings of investments decreased $22.2 million mainly due to $13.8 million of decreased

earnings resulting from mark-to-market losses occurring at the operating level of one of our . equity
investments . These losses are directly related to a decrease in gas prices during the third quarter. The
remaining decrease stems from $2.9 million of earnings related to our Lockport Energy investment that
was sold in September 2002 and lower earnings from several of our remaining equity investments.

Year-to-Date

Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

Sales and cost of sales for our Capacity Services operations decreased approximately $299.8 million
and $214.4 million, respectively, in 2003 compared to 2002, resulting in a decrease in gross profit of
$85.4 million. These decreases were primarily due to the following factors:

" Sales and cost of sales were approximately $285 .5 million and $222.8 million lower, respectively,
as higher natural gas prices used for fuel in our merchant power plants and lack of profitable
contracted sales agreements made it uneconomical to operate the plants in 2003 compared to
2002 .
In 2002, we generated $5.2 million of mark-to-market losses as forward prices moved against our
open positions . In 2003, we recorded $19.7 million of mark-to-market losses mainly related to
unfavorable gas hedges and a long-term power supply transaction as previously described .
In connection with our merchant power plants, we make fixed capacity payments evenly
throughout the year . For 2003, capacity payments increased by $8.3 million compared to 2002 as
new plants became operational late in 2002, resulting in an increase in cost of sales. This
additional capacity was utilized on a limited basis at prices that were not sufficient to cover the
fixed capacity payments .

Operating Expense
Operating expense decreased $12.3 million primarily due to labor, benefit savings and lower

corporate costs resulting from the restructuring of this business in 2002 .

Restructuring Charges
During the first nine months of 2003, we recorded restructuring charges of $23.1 million relating to

the termination of our remaining interest rate swaps associated with the construction financings for our
Clay County and Piatt County power plants . As debt related to these facilities was retired earlier than
anticipated, our swaps were in excess of our outstanding debt. We therefore reduced our position and
realized the loss associated with the cancelled portion of the swaps.
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Impairment Charges and Net Loss on Sale of Assets
During the first nine months of 2003, we recorded $188 .3 million of impairment charges and net

loss on sale of assets . These charges consist of $87.9 million related to the write-down of our equity
method investments in independent power plants . In the third quarter of 2003, we decided to sell our
interest in these plants and therefore wrote our investments down to estimated fair value less costs to
sell, which was less than their carrying value. Impairment charges also includes a $105.5 million
payment for the termination our 20-year tolling contract for the Acadia power plant, partially offset .by
a $5.1 million gain related to the contract termination and sale of certain turbines that we had
previously written down to estimated fair value.

Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets in 2002 primarily consisted of $21.9 million
related to our exit from the Lodi Gas Storage investment and $12.2 million related to fees and
expenses associated with the termination of the Cogentrix acquisition.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization expense increased $19.5 million in 2003 compared to 2002 .

Approximately $12.5 million of this increase was due to a decrease in the estimated amortizable life of
certain plant premiums relating to our acquisition of GPU International in December 2000 . In addition,
the start of commercial operations at three owned power plants contributed an additional $7.9 million
of depreciation and amortization expense in 2003 .

Earnings Trend and Impact of Changing Business Environment

The merchant energy sector has been negatively impacted by the increase in generation capacity
that became operational in 2002 and by the continued construction of additional power plants . This
increase in supply has placed downward pressure on power prices and subsequently the value of unsold
merchant generation capacity. As a result of the above factors, we do not expect our Capacity Services
unit to be profitable in the foreseeable future.

We attempt to optimize and hedge our power plants with forward contracts which qualify as
derivative instruments. When we enter into these positions, they are accounted for at fair value under
mark-to-market accounting . The hedges are an offset to our power plants, which use accrual
accounting . Because different accounting methods are required for each side of the transaction,
significant fluctuations in earnings can occur with limited impacts on future cash flow .

Current Operating Development
Independent Power Plants.

	

In the third quarter of 2003, we decided to proceed with the sale of
our investments in independent power plants. We have received bids from parties interested in
acquiring these plants and are in discussions with these bidders. We recorded an impairment charge to
reduce the carrying amount of our interests in these plants to their estimated fair value less costs to
sell . Two of the power plants, Lake Cogen and Onondaga, are consolidated on our balance sheet. We
have included the results of operations from these plants in discontinued operations . The remaining
plants are equity method investments whose results of operations are included in continuing operations.



WHOLESALE SERVICES
The table below summarizes the operations of our domestic and international Wholesale Services

businesses.

As a result of the implementation of EITF No. 02-3 (which requires that all gains and losses on
derivatives held for trading purposes be reported net in sales), all Wholesale Services' sales are
reported net for all periods presented . To the extent losses exceeded gains, sales are shown as a
negative number .

Quarter-to-Quarter
Sales and Gross Profit (Loss)
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Sales and gross profit for our Wholesale Services operations increased by $38.9 million, primarily
due to the following factors:

Included in the $50.9 million loss in 2003 was $26.9 million of non-cash losses related to the
discounting of our trading portfolio. Substantially all of these losses relate to our long-term gas
contracts. During the quarter, average gas prices decreased over the life of these contracts by
$.35 per MMbtu, which caused both the price risk management asset and price risk management
liability related to these contracts to decrease in value. However, because our price risk
management liabilities are discounted based on our credit standing, versus the receivable side of
these transactions, which are discounted at our counterparties' credit ratings (which on average
are substantially higher than our credit rating), non-cash mark-to-market losses were created.
The discounting of these liabilities and receivables is in accordance with SFAS 133 and is more
fully described in Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 7, "Using Cash Flow
Information and Present Value in Accounting Measurement."

" In 2003, we also incurred $7.1 million in mark-to-market losses from two weather-related
contracts which expire in 2005 and 2006 and are driven by precipitation and stream flow levels .

" Our remaining 2003 losses mainly stem from $10.4 million of margin losses related to our
long-term gas contracts. (See Note 14 to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2002
Annual Report on Form 10-K.)

" In the third quarter of 2002, we incurred gross margin losses of approximately $70.8 million to
balance .counterparty positions, reduce open positions and terminate existing contracts as a result
of our decision to exit the wholesale trading business .

Three Months
September

In millions 2003

Ended
30,
2002

Nine Months
- September

2003

Ended
30,
2002

Sales $(50 .9) $ (89.8) $(54 .9) $ 42.2
Cost of sales - - -
Gross profit (loss) (50.9) (89.8) (54.9) 42.2
Operating expenses :

Operating expense 8.4 36.3 44.8 106.6
Restructuring charges .7 109.0 . 1.6 159.9
Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets - 1.3 - 179.9
Depreciation and amortization expense .7 .9 2.3 5 .6

Total operating expenses 9.8 147.5 48.7 452.0
Other income 4.8 1.1 6.6 4.0
Loss before interest and taxes $(55 .9) $(236.2.) $(97.0) $(405.8)



Operating Expense
Operating expense decreased $27.9 million primarily due to labor and benefit savings and related

operating cost reductions resulting from the exit from our wholesale energy trading operations in 2002 .

Restructuring Charges
In connection with the exit from our wholesale energy trading business, we incurred $109.0 million

of restructuring charges in the third quarter of 2002. These charges mainly included $35.4 million of
severance and retention payments to terminated employees, $36.7 million of lease costs connected to
future lease commitments and $36.6 million of excess leasehold improvements and equipment that were
expensed when we vacated the related leased properties .

Year-to-Date
Sales and Gross Profit

Sales and gross profit for our Wholesale Services operations decreased by $97.1 million, primarily
due to the following factors:

" In the second quarter of 2002, we announced that we were exiting the wholesale energy trading
business . Thus, in 2003, we were not adding new or speculative positions to our trading portfolio
and therefore had limited opportunities for earnings .

" Included in the $54.9 million loss in 2003 was approximately $27.0 million of non-cash losses
related to the sale of our capacity under certain long-term gas transportation agreements at
substantially less than our future commitments. The loss was recognized for accounting purposes ;
however, the cash associated with the loss will be paid out over the term of the contracts. In
addition, we recorded a $5.5 million loss related to terminating additional trading contracts .

" Also included in the $54.9 million loss in 2003 was approximately $40.1 million of non-cash
earnings related to the discounting of our trading portfolio. Substantially all of these earnings
relate to our long-term gas contracts . During the first nine months, average gas prices rose over
the life of these contracts by $ .57 per MMbtu, which caused both the price risk management
asset and price risk management liability related to these contracts to increase in value for
reasons described above. In 2002, we recorded $30.9 million of similar mark-to-market earnings
attributable to our credit rating downgrades .
As of September 30, 2003, we have recorded $84.0 million of mark-to-market gains related to
increasing gas prices and the widening of our credit spreads between us and our counterparties .
Substantially all of these gains relate to our long-term gas contracts discussed above. These gains
will be reversed in later periods as contracts settle, our credit rating improves and/or as gas
prices decline.

" Our remaining 2003 losses mainly stem from $33.2 million of margin losses related to our
long-term gas contracts and $24.6 million of unfavorable settlements related to our European
merchant operation as we continue to wind down that business .

Operating Expense
Operating expense decreased $61 .8 million primarily due to labor and benefit savings and related

operating cost reductions resulting from the exit from our wholesale energy trading operations in 2002,
partially offset by regulatory review costs in 2003.
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Restructuring Charges
In connection with .the exit from our wholesale energy trading business, we incurred $159.9 million

of'restructuring charges in 2002 . These charges mainly included $60.2 million of severance and
retention payments to terminated employees, $36.7 million of lease costs connected to future lease
commitments and $59.0 million of excess leasehold improvements and equipment that were expensed
when we vacated the related leased properties .

Impairment Charges and Net Loss on Sale of Assets
Impairment charges and net loss on sale of assets in 2002 consisted primarily of an impairment

charge of $178.6 million related to goodwill associated with Wholesale Services that became
unrealizable due to our exit from wholesale energy trading.

CORPORATE AND OTHER

Restructuring charges decreased $8.1 million in the third quarter of 2003 compared to 2002. This
decrease was primarily due to $7.6 million of executive severance that was paid in 2002 in connection
with the separation agreement with the former Chief Executive Officer .

Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) decreased $8.6 million mainly due to foreign currency losses in 2003

resulting from unfavorable movements in the Australian and New Zealand dollar against the U.S .
dollar .

Year-to-Date
Operating Expense

Operating expense increased $18.1 million in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily due to
$11 .3 million of restructuring consulting fees and $14.9 million of increased insurance and other costs
associated with having non-investment grade credit . This increase was partially offset by $3.7 million of
costs incurred in 2002 associated with retiring debt and company-obligated preferred securities . In
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The table below summarizes our Corporate and Other expenses and other income .

In millions

Three Months
September

2003

Ended
30,
2002

Nine Months
September

2003

Ended
30,
2002

Operating expenses :
Operating expense $ 3.1 $ 4.6 $27.1 $ 9.0
Restructuring charges (.1) 8.0 .9 8.0
Depreciation and amortization expense (.3) (.2) (.9) _(.1)

TbW operating expenses 2.7 12.4 27.1 16.9
Other income (expense) :

Equity in earnings of investments - .1 .1 .2
Other income (expense) (8.8) (.2) 43.2 (9.3)

Earnings (loss) before interest and taxes $(11.5) $(12.5) $16.2 $(26.0)

Quarter-to-Quarter
Restructuring Charges



addition, we incurred a net $2.7 million of losses in 2002 on investments associated with the cash
surrender value of certain life insurance policies that did not occur in 2003 .

Restructuring Charges
Restructuring charges decreased $7 .1 million in 2003 compared to 2002. This decrease was

primarily due to $7.6 million of executive severance that was paid in 2002 in connection with the
separation agreement with the former Chief Executive Officer.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) increased $52.5 million mainly due to $41.2 million of foreign currency
gains in 2003 resulting from favorable movements in the Australian and New Zealand dollar against the
U.S . dollar. In addition, 2002 included $5.9 million of foreign exchange and interest rate hedge losses
relating to our original planned financing structure that was not consummated in connection with our
Midlands acquisition.

INTEREST EXPENSE AND INCOME TAX BENEFIT

Interest expense increased $8.1 million in the third quarter of 2003 compared to 2002 . The
increase was primarily the result of $3.8 million of higher interest costs related to the $500.0 million of
14.875% senior notes issued in July 2002, the April 2003 borrowing of $430.0 million under our
three-year secured facility that resulted in $8.3 million of interest expense and $4.3 million of debt
amortization costs mainly associated with the early retirement of our remaining debt balance under our
364-day secured credit facility. These increases were offset in part by the retirement of debt outstanding
in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom in late 2002 and early 2003 and the conversion of
the premium equity participating securities to common equity in November 2002 .

Income Tax Benefit
The income tax benefit decreased $51.1 million in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily as a result of

lower losses before income taxes in 2003 compared to 2002 and certain expenses not being deductible
in 2003 for income tax purposes.

Year-to-Date
Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $42.4 million in 2003 compared to 2002 . The increase was primarily the
result of $41.0 million of higher interest costs related to the $500 .0 million of 14.875% senior notes
issued in July 2002, the borrowing in the 2003 second quarter of $430.0 million under our three-year
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The table below summarizes our consolidated interest expense and income tax benefit:

Three Months
September

Ended
30,

Nine Months
September

Ended
30,

In millions 2003 2002 2003 2002
Interest expense $ 75.1 $ 67.0 $ 206.9 $ 164.5

Income tax benefit $(50.6) $(101 .7) $(125.7) $(196.4)

Quarter-to-Quarter
Interest Expense



secured facility that resulted in $17.2 million of additional interest expense and $11 .3 million of debt
amortization costs mainly associated with the early retirement of our 364-day secured credit facility .
These increases were offset in part by the retirement of debtoutstanding in Australia, New Zealand
and the United Kingdom in late 2002 and early 2003 and the conversion of the premium equity
participating securities to common equity in November 2002 .

Income Tax Benefit
The income tax benefit decreased $70.7 million in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily as a result of

lower losses before income taxes in 2003 compared to 2002 and equity earnings in Australia that were
taxed in 2003 due to the removal of our permanent investment election. Partially offsetting these
increases were certain tax benefits not being recognized on a significant amount of the 2002 losses as a
result of valuation allowances being provided and certain expenses in 2002 not being deductible for
income tax purposes.

SIGNIFICANT BALANCE SHEET MOVEMENTS
Total assets decreased by $1,592 .9 million since December 31, 2002 . This decrease is primarily due

to the following:
" Cash increased $245.9 million. See our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for analysis of

this increase .
" Restricted cash decreased $217.2 million primarily due to the release of cash held in escrow
from the sale of our Merchant loan portfolio, the use of restricted cash collateral to retire debt
related to our Piatt County and turbine construction facilities, offset by an increase in customer
funds on deposit that were required to be restricted .

". Funds on deposit increased $103.2 million primarily due to the cash collateralization requirement
for our letters of credit and additional margin deposits .paid to counterparties due to the
significant increase in natural gas prices in 2003 .

" Accounts receivable, net decreased $1,034 .0 million primarily due to lower volumes of natural
gas and electricity delivered due to our exit from wholesale energy trading, offset in part by
increased natural gas prices since December 31, 2002 .

" Price risk management assets decreased $124.5 million primarily due to a reduction in the
number of trading contracts, partially offset by an increase in natural gas prices since
December 31, 2002.

" Prepayments and other decreased $233.6 million primarily due to the collection of a
$191.1 million income tax refund anticipated at December 31, 2002 .

" Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries decreased by $599.8 million primarily due to the sale
of our Australian investments in the second and third quarters of 2003, as well as the
$87.9 million 2003 impairment charge related to our investments in independent power plants.

" Non-current assets of discontinued operations increased $148.9 million primarily due to an
increase in the exchange rate on our Canadian utility assets, partially offset by the $47.5 million
2003 impairment charge on the consolidated independent power plants .

Total liabilities decreased by $1,362.6 million and common shareholders' equity decreased by
$230.3 million since December 31, 2002 . These changes are primarily attributable to the following :

" Accounts payable decreased by $1,056 .5 million primarily due to lower volumes of natural gas
and electricity delivered due to our exit from wholesale energy trading, offset in part by
increased natural gas prices since December 31, 2002 .
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Price risk management liabilities decreased $98 .9 million primarily due to a reduction in the
number of trading contracts, partially offset by an increase in natural gas prices since
December 31, 2002.

Current liabilities of discontinued operations increased by $119.4 million primarily due to our
Canadian subsidiary borrowing $215.0 million under a 364-day unsecured loan, partially offset by
the repayment of current maturities of long-term debt by our Canadian subsidiary.
Short-tern and long-term debt, including current maturities of long-term debt, together
decreased by $206 .9 million primarily due to the repayment of $88.3 million of Australian notes,
$245 .1 million of debt related to our Clay and Piatt County power plants, $244.4 million of
revolving credit borrowings and $43.4 million related to our turbine facility . These decreases
were offset by net borrowings of $430.0 million under the three-year secured credit facility.

Deferred income taxes and credits decreased $67.9 million primarily due to current year losses
and continued asset sales.
Common shareholders' equity decreased $230 .3 million primarily as a result of the $302.4 million
net loss in the first nine months of 2003, partially offset by improved exchange rates on our
foreign investments that created $69.5 million of comprehensive income .

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Short-term Liquidity
As of September 30, 2003, we had the following cash and short-term debt (including cash and

(a) This facility is secured by certain future rate collections and will be repaid monthly through
February 2004 .
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On July 31, 2003, we closed on a $215.0 million, 364-day unsecured loan . The borrowers are
ANCC and ANCA, each of which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary. At closing, ANCC borrowed
$115.0 million and ANCA borrowed $100.0 million . The interest rate on this financing is LIBOR (with
2.50% floor) plus 4.25%. Proceeds were used by ANCA to repay and terminate its existing 364-day
credit agreement that matured on July 31, 2003 and a letter of credit facility . ANCC will use its
proceeds to finance the capital expenditure and working capital requirements of its regulated utility
subsidiaries, as well as repay certain bank debt of ANCBC. The facilities will be repaid with the

short-term debt reported in discontinued operations):

September 30,
In millions 2003
Cash $749.7

Short-term debt :
Bank borrowings-Canada $215.0
Subtotal 215.0

Current maturities of long-term debt:
Senior notes due on July 15 and October 1, 2004 400.0
Canadian asset securitization (a) 47.4
Miscellaneous 15.9
Subtotal 463.3

Total $678.3



proceeds received in connection with the sale of its Canadian utility investments. We paid up-front
arrangement fees of $4.3 million in connection with this borrowing .

In September 2003, we reached an agreement to sell our Canadian utility businesses for
approximately $992 million, including the repayment or assumption of $228 million of debt, or a net
$764 million in proceeds to us before closing adjustments, transaction costs and taxes . In addition, we
will be required to repay $115 million borrowed by ANCC under its 364-day unsecured loan . We expect
to use the remaining net proceeds from the sale to pay related taxes and transaction fees, improve our
liquidity and reduce debt and other obligations . The transaction is subject to approval of the regulatory
commissions in Alberta and British Columbia, among other regulatory bodies, as well as other
customary closing conditions, and is expected to close in the first half of 2004. If the sale does not close
by June 30, 2004, the sale agreement will automatically terminate .

In October 2003, we reached a definitive agreement to sell our 79.9% interest in ASL, the owner
of Midlands Electricity plc, to a subsidiary of Powergen UK plc (Powergen), for approximately
$52.0 million, before transaction costs . The sale is subject to a number of conditions including approval
from the European Commission and Kansas Corporation Commission and the commitment of the
holders of the outstanding bonds of AEPH to sell their bonds to an affiliate of Powergen for 95.8% of
their par value (less fees) plus accrued interest to the date of completion . We expect this sale to close
in the first quarter of 2004 .

Due to our non-investment grade credit rating and lack of short-term lines of credit, we must
maintain sufficient cash on hand to cover all of the working capital requirements of our business . The
most significant activity impacting working capital is the purchase of natural gas for our gas utility
customers. We could experience significant working capital requirements during peak winter heating
months due to higher natural gas consumption, potential periods of high natural gas prices and the fact
that we are currently required to prepay certain of our gas commodity suppliers and pipeline
companies . However, based on our current forecast and cash on hand at September 30, 2003, we
believe we have sufficient cash on hand to meet our short-term cash requirements . In addition, we
expect to have our Canadian asset sale closed during the first half of 2004, which will significantly
improve our overall short-term liquidity .

Long-term Liquidity

As we continue to transition the company back to a domestic utility business, our long-term
liquidity is dependent upon the following actions:

" Obtaining additional rate increases for our domestic networks which would then allow us to earn
our allowed return ;

" Restructuring our generation capacity (or tolling) obligations;
" Completing successful asset sales;
" Receiving posted collateral in accordance with contractual requirements;
" Refinancing or retiring maturing obligations such as our long-term gas delivery contracts; and

" Using regulated assets as collateral for debt .

Cash Flows

Cash Flows from Operating Activities-Cash used for operating activities increased in the nine
months ended September 30, 2003, compared to the same period in 2002, primarily due to increases in
funds on deposit resulting from higher natural gas prices and required collaterization on our letters of
credit, higher net cash outflows for inventory as our wholesale operations liquidated its gas storage
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inventory in 2002, less cash received from our trading portfolio as we announced our exit from this
business in 2002, and cash paid for restructuring and impairment charges. These decreases in cash flows
were partially offset by the collection of $217.8 million of income tax refunds that we received in 2003 .

Cash Flows from Investing Activities-Cash flows from investing activities increased in the first tune
months of 2003 primarily due to the collection of cash proceeds in 2003 from the sale of assets in 2002
and 2003, reduced Merchant capital expenditures in 2003 due to the completion of construction on
several new plants in 2002 and no additional investments in international businesses .

Cash Flows from Financing Activities-Cash flows from financing activities decreased in the first
nine months of 2003 compared to 2002 primarily as a result of our issuance in 2002 of common stock
and senior notes. These proceeds were used to pay down short-term debt on our revolving credit
agreement and to replace the liquidity under the Merchant Services accounts receivable sales program
that was terminated . In the first nine months of 2003, the primary financing activities were the
borrowings under the secured credit facilities, the repayment of debt under the revolving credit facility,
the Clay County and Platt County construction financings and our Australian notes.

Certain Trading Activities
We engage in price risk management activities for both trading and non-trading activities.

Transactions carried out in connection with trading activities that are derivatives under SFAS 133 are
accounted for under the fair value method of accounting . Under SFAS 133, our energy commodity
trading contracts, including physical transactions (mainly gas and power) and financial instruments, are
recorded at fair value. As part of the valuation of our portfolio, we value the credit risks associated
with the financial condition of counterparties and the time value of money. We primarily use quoted
market prices from published sources or comparable transactions in liquid markets to value our
contracts. If actively quoted market prices are not available, we contact brokers and other external
sources or use comparable transactions to obtain current values of our contracts . In addition, the
market prices or fair values used in determining the value of the portfolio are our best estimates
utilizing information such as historical volatility, time value, counterparty credit and the potential
impact on market prices of liquidating our positions in an orderly manner over a reasonable period of
time under current market conditions . When market prices are not readily available or determinable,
certain contracts are recorded at fair value using an alternative approach such as model pricing.

The changes in fair value of our trading and other contracts for 2003 are summarized below:

In millions
Wholesale
Services

Capacity
Services
and other Total

Fair value at December 31, 2002 $180.2 $(19 .7) $160.5
Change in fair value during the period 4.8 (37.1) (32.3)
Contracts realized or cash settled (14.5) 21.2 6.7
Fair value at September 30, 2003 $170 .5 $(35 .6) $134.9



The fair value of contracts maturing in the remainder of 2003, each of the next three years and
thereafter are shown below:

(a) As these contracts have been significantly hedged, movement in commodity prices will have a limited
impact on the net cash value provided.

Item 4.

	

Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) are responsible for
establishing and maintaining the company's disclosure controls and procedures . These controls and
procedures were designed to ensure that material information relating to the company and its
subsidiaries are communicated to the CEO and the CFO. We evaluated these disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report under the supervision of our CEO and
CFO. Based on this evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information required to be included in our
periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. There has been no change in our
internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter covered by this report that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting .

In millions
Wholesale
Services

Capacity
Services
and other lbtal

2003 $ (2.4) $ .3 $ (2.1)
2004 29.7 (6.8) 22.9
2005 33.3 (18.9) 14.4
2006 26.8 (3.1) 23.7
Thereafter (a) 83.1 (7.1) 76.0
Total fair value $170 .5 $(35.6) $134 .9



Item 6.

	

Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K
(a)

	

List of Exhibits

Part II-Other Information

Exhibit No.

	

Description
31,1

	

Certification of Chief Executive Officer under Section 302

31.2

	

Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Section 302

32.1

	

Certification o£ Chief Executive Officer under Section 906
32,2

	

Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Section 906
(b) Reports on Form 8-K

We furnished Current Reports on Form 8-K to the Securities and Exchange Commission during
the quarter ended September 30, 2003, as follows:

Date Filed

	

Item No .

August 12, 2003

	

Item 7-Press release dated August 12, 2003 .
Item 12-Announcement of net losses for the second quarter and six months

ended June 30, 2003 .



Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AOunA, INC.

By:

	

/s/ RICK J. DOBSON

Rick J. Dobson
Chief Financial Officer

Signing on behalf of the registrant and
as principal financial and accounting
officer

Date:

	

November S, 2003

Signatures



Aquila, Inc.
Chief Executive Officer

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Richard C. Green, Jr ., certify that :

Exhibit 31.1

1.

	

I have reviewed the quarterly report of Aquila, Inc. for the quarterly period ending September 30,
2003 ;

2.

	

Based on my knowledge, the report does not contain any untrue statement Of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by the
report;

3.

	

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in the
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

	

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for
the registrant and have:
a)

	

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this periodic report is being prepared ;

b)

	

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c)

	

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

5.

	

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions) :
a)

	

All significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, .suntmarize and report financial information; and

b)

	

Anyfraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

November 5, 2003

	

/s/ RICHARD C. GREEN, JR .

Richard C. Green, Jr .
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer,
Aquila, Inc.



I, Rick J. Dobson, certify that :

Aquila, Inc.
Chief Financial Officer

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

November 5, 2003

	

/s/ RICK J. DOBSON
Rick J. Dobson
Chief Financial Officer,
Aquila, Inc.

Exhibit 31 .2

1.

	

I have reviewed the quarterly report of Aquila, Inc. for the quarterly period ending September 30,
2003 ;

2.

	

Based on my knowledge, the report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by the
report ;

3.

	

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in the
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

	

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for
the registrant and have :
a)

	

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including-its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this periodic report is being prepared ;

b)

	

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation ; and

c)

	

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

5.

	

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions) :
a)

	

All significant deficiencies and material weakness in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

	

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.



I, Richard C. Green, Jr., certify that, to my knowledge:

1.

	

Aquila, Inc.'s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ending September 30, 2003
accompanying this Certification, in the form filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"); and

2.

	

The information in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of Aquila, Inc.

Dated: November 5, 2003

Aquila, Inc.
Chief Executive Officer

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

/s/ RicHARD C. GREEN, JR .

Exhibit 32 .1

Richard C. Green, Jr .
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Aquila, Inc.



I, Rick J. Dobson, certify that, to my knowledge:

1.

	

Aquila, Inc.'s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ending September 30, 2003
accompanying this Certification, in the form filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the "Report") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"); and

2.

	

The information in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of Aquila, Inc.

Dated: November 5, 2003

Aquila, Inc.
Chief Financial Officer

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

/s/ Rtcx J. DoBSON
Rick J. Dobson
Chief Financial Officer
Aquila, Inc.

Exhibit 32.2


